Report No.464



ClimAg: Multifactorial Causes of Fodder Crises in Ireland and Risks due to Climate Change

Authors: Nithiya Streethran, Kieran Hickey, Astrid Wingler and Paul Leahy







Rialtas na hÉireann Government of Ireland

Environmental Protection Agency

The EPA is responsible for protecting and improving the environment as a valuable asset for the people of Ireland. We are committed to protecting people and the environment from the harmful effects of radiation and pollution.

The work of the EPA can be divided into three main areas:

Regulation: Implementing regulation and environmental compliance systems to deliver good environmental outcomes and target those who don't comply.

Knowledge: Providing high quality, targeted and timely environmental data, information and assessment to inform decision making.

Advocacy: Working with others to advocate for a clean, productive and well protected environment and for sustainable environmental practices.

Our Responsibilities Include:

Licensing

- > Large-scale industrial, waste and petrol storage activities;
- > Urban waste water discharges;
- The contained use and controlled release of Genetically Modified Organisms;
- > Sources of ionising radiation;
- Greenhouse gas emissions from industry and aviation through the EU Emissions Trading Scheme.

National Environmental Enforcement

- > Audit and inspection of EPA licensed facilities;
- > Drive the implementation of best practice in regulated activities and facilities;
- Oversee local authority responsibilities for environmental protection;
- Regulate the quality of public drinking water and enforce urban waste water discharge authorisations;
- > Assess and report on public and private drinking water quality;
- Coordinate a network of public service organisations to support action against environmental crime;
- > Prosecute those who flout environmental law and damage the environment.

Waste Management and Chemicals in the Environment

- Implement and enforce waste regulations including national enforcement issues;
- Prepare and publish national waste statistics and the National Hazardous Waste Management Plan;
- Develop and implement the National Waste Prevention Programme;
- > Implement and report on legislation on the control of chemicals in the environment.

Water Management

- Engage with national and regional governance and operational structures to implement the Water Framework Directive;
- Monitor, assess and report on the quality of rivers, lakes, transitional and coastal waters, bathing waters and groundwaters, and measurement of water levels and river flows.

Climate Science & Climate Change

 Publish Ireland's greenhouse gas emission inventories and projections;

- Provide the Secretariat to the Climate Change Advisory Council and support to the National Dialogue on Climate Action;
- Support National, EU and UN Climate Science and Policy development activities.

Environmental Monitoring & Assessment

- Design and implement national environmental monitoring systems: technology, data management, analysis and forecasting;
- Produce the State of Ireland's Environment and Indicator Reports;
- Monitor air quality and implement the EU Clean Air for Europe Directive, the Convention on Long Range Transboundary Air Pollution, and the National Emissions Ceiling Directive;
- Oversee the implementation of the Environmental Noise Directive;
- > Assess the impact of proposed plans and programmes on the Irish environment.

Environmental Research and Development

- > Coordinate and fund national environmental research activity to identify pressures, inform policy and provide solutions;
- Collaborate with national and EU environmental research activity.

Radiological Protection

- Monitoring radiation levels and assess public exposure to ionising radiation and electromagnetic fields;
- Assist in developing national plans for emergencies arising from nuclear accidents;
- Monitor developments abroad relating to nuclear installations and radiological safety;
- > Provide, or oversee the provision of, specialist radiation protection services.

Guidance, Awareness Raising, and Accessible Information

- Provide independent evidence-based reporting, advice and guidance to Government, industry and the public on environmental and radiological protection topics;
- Promote the link between health and wellbeing, the economy and a clean environment;
- Promote environmental awareness including supporting behaviours for resource efficiency and climate transition;
- Promote radon testing in homes and workplaces and encourage remediation where necessary.

Partnership and Networking

> Work with international and national agencies, regional and local authorities, non-governmental organisations, representative bodies and government departments to deliver environmental and radiological protection, research coordination and science-based decision making.

Management and Structure of the EPA

The EPA is managed by a full time Board, consisting of a Director General and five Directors. The work is carried out across five Offices:

- 1. Office of Environmental Sustainability
- 2. Office of Environmental Enforcement
- 3. Office of Evidence and Assessment
- 4. Office of Radiation Protection and Environmental Monitoring
- 5. Office of Communications and Corporate Services

The EPA is assisted by advisory committees who meet regularly to discuss issues of concern and provide advice to the Board.



ClimAg: Multifactorial Causes of Fodder Crises in Ireland and Risks due to Climate Change

Authors: Nithiya Streethran, Kieran Hickey, Astrid Wingler and Paul Leahy Lead organisation: University College Cork

Identifying pressures

The temperate climate of Ireland favours almost year-round grass growth, which has supported the development of a successful pasture-based farming system. However, this has been threatened by repeated severe shortfalls in fodder stocks, with resulting impacts on yields, revenues, and animal welfare. Grass growth may be influenced by a number of factors, including droughts, heat stress and other drivers, which can lead to the emergence of a fodder crisis.

This research identifies the key drivers of historic fodder crises, and investigates whether such events will become more or less frequent or severe under the climatic changes projected for Ireland by the mid-21st century.

Informing policy

By the middle of this century, total annual grass growth is projected to decrease throughout Ireland. However, the projected changes are spatially variable. Fodder production in the north-west of the country is likely to remain more resilient than elsewhere, with decreases in production most likely to occur in the south-east and, during summer months, in parts of the mid-west. This may result in gradual shifts in agricultural practices over time.

Growth limitation due to heat stress is unlikely to occur in any area of the country, even in the worst-case future climate scenario. However, interactions between drought and heat may lead to reduced growth in particular years.

Reductions in autumn growth and reduced cover at the end of the growing season are also projected, particularly in the south-east. This indicates increased risk in future to the resilience of pasture systems, especially as many of the highest-impact fodder crises develop over successive growing seasons. There may be potential short-term impacts on farm incomes, and mitigation measures are likely to impose additional long-term costs on farmers.

Developing solutions

This research has created a novel fodder crisis severity index which can be used to gauge the impacts of historic and future events. Past fodder crisis events have been multifactorial, and in many cases multiannual. The research has also developed and validated an innovative modelling framework which combines climate change projection datasets with a computer model of grass growth. This can be used to determine pasture productivity under future climatic conditions.

Data is key to supporting better decision making at farm level and informing policy supports at government level. The modelling framework developed in this research can inform preparedness by being potentially coupled with long term weather forecasts to create an early warning system for adaptive pasture management.

Measures to increase the resilience of pasture systems against fodder crisis events are recommended. These include increases in stored fodder provision, and the development of early warning systems. Earlier closure in autumn may also allow for better growth recovery in spring in order to avoid the emergence of multi-annual events which have been observed several times since 2010.

EPA RESEARCH PROGRAMME 2021–2030

ClimAg: Multifactorial Causes of Fodder Crises in Ireland and Risks due to Climate Change

(2018-CCRP-MS.50)

EPA Research Report

Prepared for the Environmental Protection Agency

by

University College Cork

Authors:

Nithiya Streethran, Kieran Hickey, Astrid Wingler and Paul Leahy

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY An Ghníomhaireacht um Chaomhnú Comhshaoil PO Box 3000, Johnstown Castle, Co. Wexford, Ireland

Telephone: +353 53 916 0600 Fax: +353 53 916 0699 Email: info@epa.ie Website: www.epa.ie © Environmental Protection Agency 2024

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report is published as part of the EPA Research Programme 2021–2030. The EPA Research Programme is a Government of Ireland initiative funded by the Department of the Environment, Climate and Communications. It is administered by the Environmental Protection Agency, which has the statutory function of co-ordinating and promoting environmental research. Additional funding was provided under the COVID-19 research support scheme of the Higher Education Authority.

The project team acknowledges the invaluable support and technical advice of Paul Nolan of the Irish Centre for High-End Computing, Eoin Whelan of Met Éireann and Elodie Ruelle of Teagasc.

The authors would like to thank the members of the project steering committee for their input throughout the project, namely Liam Brennan and John Muldowney (Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine), Klara Finkele and Keith Lambkin (Met Éireann), Phillip O'Brien (EPA), Sean O'Leary (ex-EPA), Agnes van den Pol-van Dasselaar (Aeres University of Applied Science, Dronten, Netherlands) and Karen Roche (Project Manager on behalf of EPA Research). We would also like to acknowledge the contribution of researcher Cathal Nolan early in the project and thank him for it.

DISCLAIMER

Although every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the material contained in this publication, complete accuracy cannot be guaranteed. The Environmental Protection Agency, the authors and the steering committee members do not accept any responsibility whatsoever for loss or damage occasioned, or claimed to have been occasioned, in part or in full, as a consequence of any person acting, or refraining from acting, as a result of a matter contained in this publication. All or part of this publication may be reproduced without further permission, provided the source is acknowledged.

This report is based on research carried out/data from 2019 to 2023. More recent data may have become available since the research was completed.

The EPA Research Programme addresses the need for research in Ireland to inform policymakers and other stakeholders on a range of questions in relation to environmental protection. These reports are intended as contributions to the necessary debate on the protection of the environment.

EPA RESEARCH PROGRAMME 2021–2030 Published by the Environmental Protection Agency, Ireland

ISBN:978-1-80009-215-0

Price: Free

October 2024

Online version

Project Partners

Paul Leahy

University College Cork Cork Ireland Tel.: +353 21 4902017 Email: paul.leahy@ucc.ie

Contents

| Ackr | nowledg | jements | ii |
|-------|----------|---|------|
| Discl | laimer | | ii |
| Proje | ect Part | ners | iii |
| List | of Figu | °es | vii |
| List | of Table | \$S | viii |
| Exec | utive Su | ımmary | ix |
| 1 | Intro | duction | 1 |
| | 1.1 | Background and Objectives | 1 |
| | 1.2 | Fodder Crisis Severity Index | 1 |
| | 1.3 | Meteorological Impacts on Grass Growth Leading to Fodder Crises | 1 |
| | 1.4 | Non-meteorological Drivers Contributing to the Emergence of Fodder Crises | 3 |
| | 1.5 | Overview of Pasture Systems in Ireland | 3 |
| 2 | Previ | ous Occurrence and Multifactorial Drivers of Fodder Crises | 5 |
| | 2.1 | Chronology of Fodder Crises, 1946–2009: Drivers and Impacts | 5 |
| | 2.2 | Prehistoric and Historical Droughts and Fodder Crises | 7 |
| 3 | Data | Sources and Modelling Approach | 8 |
| | 3.1 | Overview of Approach | 8 |
| | 3.2 | Model Description | 8 |
| | 3.3 | Climate Data | 9 |
| | 3.4 | Model Localisation and Implementation | 11 |
| | 3.5 | Model Evaluation, Climate Data Assessment and Analysis | 14 |
| 4 | Eval | uation of Modelled Grass Growth | 16 |
| | 4.1 | Root Mean Square Error | 16 |
| | 4.2 | Time Series Comparison | 16 |
| 5 | Asses | ssment of Historical Grass Growth Simulated using Climate Model Datasets | 18 |
| 6 | Futu | re Occurrence and Severity of Fodder Crises under Climate Change | 19 |
| | 6.1 | Annual Grass Growth Anomalies | 19 |
| | 6.2 | Seasonal Grass Growth Anomalies | 20 |
| | 6.3 | Closing Farm Cover | 21 |

| 22 |
|----|
| 22 |
| 22 |
| 23 |
| 24 |
| 30 |
| |

List of Figures

| Figure 2.1. | Annual occurrence of fodder crises, 1946–2022, with associated scores on the fodder crisis severity index | 5 |
|-------------|---|----|
| Figure 3.1. | Overall modelling framework for ClimAg | 8 |
| Figure 3.2. | NNI (left) and soil WHC (right) derived from ESDAC soil data and gridded for the HiResIreland climate model dataset | 12 |
| Figure 3.3. | Stocking rate derived using the Census of Agriculture for the Republic of Ireland and the Agricultural Census in Northern Ireland and gridded for the HiResIreland climate model dataset | 13 |
| Figure 4.1. | RMSE of simulated daily grass growth rates by county | 16 |
| Figure 4.2. | Representative weekly time series of simulated (MÉRA) and measured (PBI) daily grass growth rates for County Wexford for the years 2012–2022 | 17 |
| Figure 4.3. | Representative weekly time series of simulated (MÉRA) and measured (PBI) daily grass growth rates for County Kerry for the years 2012–2022 | 17 |
| Figure 5.1. | Difference in the long-term means (1981–2005) of historical daily grass growth rate simulations driven by the climate model datasets compared with those driven by the MÉRA dataset | 18 |
| Figure 6.1. | Anomalies between the long-term annual ensemble means of future (2041–2070) daily grass growth rates driven by the EURO-CORDEX and HiResIreland climate model datasets and those of the historical period (1976–2005) | 19 |
| Figure 6.2. | Anomalies in the long-term ensemble means between future (2041–2070) daily grass growth rates driven by the HiResIreland dataset for spring (MAM), summer (JJA) and autumn (SON) and those for the historical period (1976–2005) | 20 |
| Figure 6.3. | Closing farm cover in December for the historical (1976–2005) and future (2041–2070) periods under RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 scenarios, driven by the HiResIreland dataset | 20 |
| | | |

List of Tables

| Table 1.1. | Definition of the categories in the fodder crisis severity index | 2 |
|------------|--|----|
| Table 3.1. | List of climate model dataset variables used in this study | 10 |

Executive Summary

The temperate climate of Ireland favours almost year-round grass growth, which has supported the development of a successful pasture-based farming economy. This agricultural system is efficient, but the high dependence on fodder has led to the regular occurrence of fodder crises in Ireland, when available stocks run too low, with resulting impacts on yields, revenues and animal welfare.

Fodder crises may vary in spatial and temporal extent and occur due to a multitude of environmental and management factors, some of which may interact with each other. In particular, drought and heat stress may interact, resulting in reduced summer grass growth. To understand these events in greater detail, this report presents an integrated assessment of the occurrence of historical and future fodder crises, the latter under projected climate change conditions.

An impact-based five-level fodder crisis severity index has been developed and can be used to classify fodder crisis events. This severity index has been applied to fodder crises occurring between 1946 and 2022, the period for which accessible, high-quality data and records are available. Fodder crises occur two or three times per decade on average, and several significant events developed during this period. Some of the highest-impact events were driven by blocking anticyclones, which led to suppression of growth by drought and high temperatures.

An innovative modelling framework has been developed, evaluated and applied to project the future occurrence of fodder crises in Ireland. A mechanistic, dynamic grass growth model has been driven with high-resolution downscaled climate data from two different model families under historical (1976–2005) conditions and two future (2041–2070) climate change scenarios (examples of Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs)), RCP4.5 and RCP8.5, corresponding to a 1.4°C and 2.0°C increase in global mean temperature by the mid-21st century, respectively.

The model was evaluated by driving it with reanalysis data and comparing the outputs with aggregated on-farm grass growth measurements.

Then, simulations driven by climate model data from the historical period were compared with the contemporaneous values driven by the reanalysis data. Finally, simulations were carried out using future scenario outputs from the climate models. Two climate model datasets, Coordinated Downscaling Experiment – European Domain (EURO-CORDEX) and HiResIreland, were used.

Simulations driven by the HiResIreland dataset best matched observed historical grass growth patterns. Simulations driven by the EURO-CORDEX dataset had a poorer match to historical grass growth. The HiResIreland-driven simulations project a general decrease in future grass growth throughout Ireland, with the decrease being more pronounced in the more extreme RCP8.5 climate change scenario than in the more likely RCP4.5 scenario. Increases in growth are projected in spring while decreases are projected in summer and for most areas in autumn.

Autumn growth is particularly important for predicting the development of a fodder shortage, as farmers rely on late-season grass growth for the subsequent year, and heavy autumn grazing may delay and reduce spring growth. Simulations projected a decrease in autumn growth, except for the north-west of the country. Average closing farm cover, indicated by the stock of standing biomass at the end of the year, was predicted to decline in most of the country under future climatic conditions, and would in many areas fall below the current recommended cover of 500-600 kg DM ha⁻¹. This points towards a vulnerability of current pasture systems to multiannual fodder crises, particularly as the reduction in annual growth and summer growth is likely to result in reduced availability of stored fodder for the winter.

The modelling framework performed well in general with a linear relationship apparent between pooled model simulations and observations of daily grass growth for all locations. However, deviations between modelled and observed grass growth were identified particularly at the start of the growing season (which occurred later in the model than was observed in practice), and the model was found to be oversensitive to extreme weather events. Measures to increase the resilience of pasture systems against fodder crisis events are recommended, particularly in light of the projected reductions in autumn growth and closing grass cover. Potential measures include earlier closure in autumn and the development of early warning systems for conditions likely to lead to the emergence of fodder crises, in order to allow adequate stocks to be preserved from autumn to spring to avoid the emergence of multiannual events of the type observed several times since 2010.

1 Introduction

1.1 Background and Objectives

The focus of this report is the production of feed for ruminant animals from grass, or grass-dominated pastures, in Ireland. The term "fodder" is used to include all grass, primarily perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.), produced for consumption, whether by grazing (forage) or preservation methods such as hay or silage. Prolonged or widespread shortages of animal feed may develop into "crisis" situations, leading to severe impacts on agricultural output, animal welfare and farm incomes.

The objectives of the ClimAg project were to:

- develop a definition and classification system for fodder crisis events;
- identify the key drivers of fodder crises;
- analyse the occurrence of fodder crisis events from the mid-20th century to the present date;
- develop a data and modelling framework that can be used to simulate fodder production in temperate pasture systems;
- estimate the future occurrence of fodder crises under projected climatic conditions in the mid-21st century;
- identify key vulnerabilities and make recommendations on actions to improve the resilience of pasture systems in Ireland.

1.2 Fodder Crisis Severity Index

Fodder crises have been widely reported in farming periodicals and the news media (e.g. see Dermody (2013) and Noone *et al.* (2017)), but, to date, there is no agreed definition of what constitutes a fodder crisis. Therefore, a severity index was developed to categorise such events by their duration, spatial extent, i.e. regional or national, and economic or social impacts.

The severity index is used to classify events into five categories (Table 1.1). The categories are defined primarily by the impacts of and responses to the event. Each category also has an associated characteristic spatial extent and temporal duration.

1.3 Meteorological Impacts on Grass Growth Leading to Fodder Crises

Fodder crises are multifactorial events by nature. A period of widespread below-average grass growth can be caused by a single meteorological driver or by a combination of multiple meteorological drivers. The main meteorological and environmental factors controlling the growth of perennial forage grasses, such as perennial ryegrass, are temperature, precipitation, water availability, solar radiation and light conditions, including photoperiod (Brereton et al., 1996; Hurtado-Uria et al., 2013a; Wingler, 2015). When variables such as temperature or moisture availability fall below certain threshold values, growth is restricted (Hopkins, 2000; Hurtado-Uria et al., 2013a,b). In addition, developmental processes underlie the seasonality of growth, which results in a growth peak in late spring or early summer but lower growth under similar conditions later in the season (Hurtado-Uria et al., 2013a; Wingler and Hennessy, 2016). Variation in precipitation and increases in daily temperatures and carbon dioxide concentration in the atmosphere influence pasture productivity and quality (Bell et al., 2013; Rojas-Downing et al., 2017). Cold winters may also affect long-term yield and result in a loss of biomass in spring (Wingler and Hennessy, 2016). Other precipitation events, such as heavy spring snowfall, can have impacts on grass growth by delaying the start of growth, and extreme summer rain or hailstorms may cause damage to grass, making it harder to harvest.

In Ireland, growth is co-limited by solar radiation and temperature from September to December, while temperature is the main driver of growth from January to March (Hurtado-Uria *et al.*, 2013a). Growth limitation early in the year is consistent with inhibition of cellular growth in the growing points (meristems) by low temperatures (Wingler, 2015). Little or no grass growth occurs at temperatures below 5°C, despite continued photosynthetic activity. This results in an accumulation of the carbohydrate fructan, which protects the cells against cold damage (Wingler, 2015). Low winter temperatures are also required for vernalisation of

| Index value | Duration | Spatial extent | Impacts and responses |
|-------------|--------------------------|----------------|--|
| 0 | N/A | N/A | None |
| 1 | Seasonal to annual | Regional | Transfer of fodder from unaffected areas within Ireland A price rise for fodder is likely because of high demand Possible above-normal amounts of commercial feed purchased |
| 2 | Seasonal to annual | National | Movement of fodder from unaffected farms within Ireland A significant price rise for fodder is likely because of high demand Above-normal amounts of commercial feed purchased |
| 3 | Annual to multiannual | National | Heavy reliance on the purchase of commercial feed Animals malnourished in some cases |
| 4 | Annual to multiannual | National | Some farmers no longer have the money to purchase commercial feed Government intervention Import of emergency fodder and donation of cut grass, e.g. from airports Increasing numbers of malnourished animals Early culling leading to a loss of farmer income |
| 5 | Annual to multiannual | National | Starvation and death of significant numbers of animals on farms Large-scale early culling, leading to a significant price drop for meat and significant loss of farmer income Large-scale government intervention and, where possible, import of large amounts of emergency fodder Long-term damage to the national herd, national flock and farm incomes |

| Table | 1.1. | Definition | of the | categories | in the | fodder | crisis | severity | index |
|-------|------|------------|--------|------------|--------|--------|--------|----------|-------|
|-------|------|------------|--------|------------|--------|--------|--------|----------|-------|

N/A, not applicable.

perennial ryegrass, enabling flowering later in the year as the days get longer and temperatures rise (Wang and Forster, 2017). However, flowering can have negative impacts on overall production by restricting late-season growth (Hurtado-Uria *et al.*, 2013b) and reducing forage quality.

Heat stress inhibits perennial ryegrass growth rates through the accumulation of reactive oxygen species, inhibition of photosynthesis and membrane peroxidation (Jiang and Huang, 2001; Loka *et al.*, 2019; Soliman *et al.*, 2012). However, persistent damage occurs only under severe heat stress (35°C day/30°C night, according to Perera *et al.*, 2019; 40°C day/35°C night, according to Yang *et al.*, 2014), whereas mild climatic conditions, i.e. heating of swards up to 7°C above ambient temperature, were observed to have only minor effects on perennial ryegrass growth (Langworthy *et al.*, 2020). Under the mild Irish climate, heat stress on its own is therefore not very

likely to have a major impact on perennial ryegrass yield.

In waterlogged soils, the oxygen supply to roots is reduced, resulting in impaired root development, lower leaf chlorophyll content and reduced rates of photosynthesis in perennial ryegrass (Frisk *et al.*, 2022; McFarlane *et al.*, 2003). Submergence (i.e. shoots at least partially under water) further exacerbates these effects and reduces shoot watersoluble carbohydrate content (Liu and Jiang, 2015). The combination of impaired photosynthesis and increased carbohydrate demand for fermentation in the absence of oxygen reduces the availability of carbohydrate for growth (Loka *et al.*, 2019).

Dry summers, for example as experienced in 2018, can limit perennial ryegrass growth in Ireland. Although heat stress mainly impairs photosynthesis and results in lower levels of carbohydrate formation (Loka *et al.*, 2019), drought, similar to cold stress, affects growth more strongly than rates of photosynthesis (Muller *et al.*, 2011). This results in carbohydrate accumulation in perennial ryegrass under severe water deficit (Hofer *et al.*, 2017). Water deficit restricts hydraulic growth within the plant, and also leads to reduced soil nitrogen availability and lower plant nitrogen content (Hofer *et al.*, 2017); however, the nitrogen status of perennial ryegrass can recover once water becomes available again (Hofer *et al.*, 2016).

Furthermore, the interacting effects of drought and heat can impair growth. During periods of water deficit, stomatal closure results in reduced cooling through transpiration, which can increase the leaf temperature; in turn, higher leaf temperatures can increase transpiratory water loss (Jiang and Huang, 2001). Drought can therefore exacerbate the effects of heat and vice versa. Unexpectedly, however, warming by 3°C above ambient temperature did not increase soil water depletion in perennial ryegrass and ribwort plantain (*Plantago lanceolata* L.) mixtures (Naudts *et al.*, 2013).

1.4 Non-meteorological Drivers Contributing to the Emergence of Fodder Crises

Apart from meteorological conditions, nonmeteorological factors may contribute to the emergence of a fodder crisis from a period of below-average growth. Factors such as the physical properties of soil, including the drainage characteristics, intensity of grazing, nutrient availability, make-up of the sward and the choice and timing of management actions, such as cutting, grazing and fertiliser or slurry applications by farmers (Falzoi et al., 2019; Grace et al., 2019; Jordon et al., 2022; O'Donovan et al., 2011, 2022), may exacerbate the impacts of a low-growth period. Prior management decisions such as the provision of preserved fodder stocks or supplements and management actions taken in response to low growth may also exert an influence on the development of a fodder crisis.

1.5 Overview of Pasture Systems in Ireland

The island of Ireland has a temperate oceanic climate that favours grass growth throughout the year (Brereton *et al.*, 1996; Hurtado-Uria *et al.*, 2013a). The

most widely grown grassland species in intensively managed grasslands in Ireland, and globally, is perennial ryegrass (Grogan and Gilliland, 2011; Hennessy *et al.*, 2020), a C_3 grass species belonging to the subfamily Pooideae, the cool season grasses (Bell *et al.*, 2013; Yang *et al.*, 2014).

The typical growing season in Ireland is over 300 days, with an increasing trend (O'Donovan et al., 2011). Due to the long growing season and relatively mild conditions, animals are grazed much of the year. The long growing season allows the Irish dairy industry to rely primarily on grazing as a cheap source of animal feed (van den Pol-van Dasselaar et al., 2020). Fodder production in Ireland is therefore dependent on grassland productivity, and grassland accounts for almost 60% of the total Irish land area and over 80% of agricultural land (Central Statistics Office, 2022a). By providing grass, silage and hay (i.e. fodder), Irish grassland forms the basis of ruminant livestock production, and a high proportion of fodder is produced and stored on the farm for on-farm consumption. Irish agriculture is dominated by specialist beef (44% of farmed area), specialist dairy (22%) and specialist sheep (11%) farming (Central Statistics Office, 2022b). In 2022, 1.9 million cattle and 3.2 million sheep were slaughtered in Ireland and 8.8 million litres of domestically produced cow's milk were processed in creameries (Central Statistics Office, 2023a,b).

In the Irish grass-based dairy production system, grazed pasture typically makes up over 60% of the dry matter consumed by cows, and grass-derived sources such as silage make up 20% (O'Brien et al., 2018). Concentrate feeds (mostly derived from beet, maize, barley and soybean) are used in Irish agricultural systems to supplement pasture grass, hay or grass silage in the event of grass-based feed shortages (Hennessy et al., 2021). Concentrates and other nongrass feeds make only a minor contribution (less than 20%) to a cow's diet (French et al., 2006; Hennessy et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2018). Stored fodder is used to feed cattle during the winter while they are housed indoors and when grass growth rates are low or zero. Therefore, the amount of stored fodder at the end of the grazing season and the timing of the start of growth the following spring are two key factors that determine the adequacy of fodder supplies. This pasture-based ruminant production system is used by the majority of livestock farmers in Ireland and is reliant on benign climatic conditions to produce

sufficient levels of fodder over the long growing season with low levels of inputs (Dillon *et al.*, 2005; Hennessy *et al.*, 2020; O'Donovan *et al.*, 2011).

The environmental sustainability of Irish ruminant production systems was recently reviewed by O'Mara *et al.* (2021), discussing options to reduce emissions of the greenhouse gases methane and nitrous oxide and to improve water quality through reduced fertiliser use. The increase in nitrogen fertiliser costs in 2021 and 2022 highlighted the importance of reducing fertiliser applications. This can be achieved by the inclusion of legumes in the sward, which form microbial associations (root nodules) with rhizobia, bacteria that can fix molecular nitrogen from the atmosphere. Inclusion of the legume white clover (*Trifolium repens* L.) in perennial ryegrass swards increases dry matter production (Guy et al., 2018). Importantly, fertiliser use can be reduced from 250 to 150 kg ha⁻¹ without negative impacts on herbage yield or milk production (Egan et al., 2018). Plot trials have shown benefits of adding more species (grasses, legumes and herbs) in perennial ryegrass swards, thus creating multispecies swards. The benefits include increased biomass yield with less nitrogen fertiliser and the potential to mitigate drought effects (Finn et al., 2018; Grange et al., 2021; Hofer et al., 2016). However, grassland management (grazing and cutting) can affect the species proportions, e.g. grazing can reduce herbage yield of multispecies swards (Grace et al., 2019). How these species mixtures perform under grazing should be evaluated further (O'Donovan et al., 2022).

2 Previous Occurrence and Multifactorial Drivers of Fodder Crises

In all, 15 fodder crises were recorded for Ireland over the period from late 1946 to 2022, some of which were multiannual events. They vary in cause, duration, severity and impact (Figure 2.1). This chapter will give an overview of their chronology, including causes, duration and impacts.

2.1 Chronology of Fodder Crises, 1946–2009: Drivers and Impacts

The first fodder crisis was in 1947 and was a result of an extended very cold spell that started in late 1946 and carried on until early May 1947. Heavy and persistent snowfalls significantly delayed the start of spring grass growth, and animals were kept inside for much longer than usual whenever possible, which led to fodder shortages for many farmers. There were mass mortalities of animals in the fields, including both domestic and wild animals, due to the snow and the lack of food. There were also difficulties in securing alternative feed because of blocked roads and railways and the high cost of fodder. This resulted in many farmers having no option but to allow their animals to starve or, in some cases, to sell their animals for slaughter, often at reduced prices because of their poor condition (Kearns, 2011).

A series of less severe fodder crises occurred in the 1950s, including in 1950, 1955–1956 and 1958, with the first and last being regional in scale and the other having island-wide effects. None was associated with mass starvation or mass early slaughter of animals. Only one fodder crisis was recorded for the 1960s, and this was associated with an extended winter cold spell that lasted from December 1962 into late March 1963, leading to a delay in the start of grass growth and fodder problems for many farmers, who had to continue feeding their animals on fodder stocks later than usual. There were incidents of starvation and increased mortality of animals as a result.

A more complex event, associated with an exceptionally long dry period, developed from October 1974 to September 1976 (Stead, 2014). This generated a fodder crisis spanning 1975 and 1976, albeit with some intermediate recovery in fodder growth and stocks.

In the 1980s, there was only one fodder crisis recorded, a multiannual event occurring between



Figure 2.1. Annual occurrence of fodder crises, 1946–2022, with associated scores on the fodder crisis severity index. Multiannual events are represented by separate bars for each year of their duration.

1985 and 1987. This consisted of two main components. First, a series of major thunderstorms and downpours across Ireland in July 1985 caused large-scale damage and destruction of fodder and led to shortages in the following winter. Second, a very wet summer in 1986, when combined with low fodder stocks carried forward from the previous year, led to a further fodder crisis during the winter of 1986 that continued into 1987. In the latter case, this was associated with the death from starvation of some animals.

Two events of note occurred in the 1990s. The 1995 event was associated with heat and drought from June to October limiting grass growth and fodder production, leading to problems with fodder for some farmers and some shortages but not extending into the winter (Mac Cárthaigh, 1996). This was not the case with the event occurring from 1998 to 1999, when an exceptionally wet summer resulted in low grass growth rates and reduced fodder production, leading to a fodder crisis in the winter that was relieved only by spring grass growth in 1999. Again, this was limited in terms of its impacts, with some farmers struggling to feed animals through the winter.

There were two significant events in the 2000s. The event of 2001–2002 began to develop in the summer. The summer of 2001 was dominated by high temperatures that continued into November but did not affect grass growth. The crisis arose because of the highly variable nature of precipitation, ranging from very low in June, September and November to very high in July, August and October, creating the conditions for a period of poor grass growth and fodder production (Ryan, 2002). This led to a fodder crisis in the winter of 2001–2002, which was relieved only by spring grass growth in 2002. This was another relatively low-impact event, with issues on only some farms in relation to fodder but no evidence of mass starvation and mortalities. A similar, limited-impact, fodder crisis took place between 2007 and 2009. This event was associated with two exceptionally wet summers reducing fodder production and stocks and leading to a fodder crisis in the winter of 2008–2009. The exceptionally wet summer and November of 2009 (Hickey, 2010) did not seem to cause any significant fodder issues, although many farms in the west and south suffered extensive flooding, resulting in the movement of animals off flooded land and the loss of some stored fodder.

2.1.1 Recent fodder crises: 2012–2013, 2018, 2020 and 2022

Extreme weather events, such as those experienced in 2012-2013 and 2018, led to reduced grass growth in Ireland (Green et al., 2018; White et al., 2020) and thereby shortages of fodder. The major fodder crisis of 2012-2013 had the highest impact of any event since that of 1946–1947. This event was a result of another very wet summer, which led to low grass growth and fodder production. This caused stocks to run low in the winter of 2012-2013. In other years, such a crisis would be ended by spring grass growth, but that did not happen in this case. As a result of very low spring temperatures, grass growth did not start to any great extent until May 2013, and by this time many farmers had run out of fodder and money to buy feed. This led to government intervention and the import of fodder from France to alleviate the situation. There was widespread hunger among animals and some deaths, as well as the premature slaughter of an estimated 30,000 cattle below their target weights. This event put renewed focus on Ireland's dependency on fodder production and storage, and the possible role of climate change in exacerbating the crisis and concerns about the increasing vulnerability of grass growth and fodder production to these types of meteorological extremes (Hennessy, 2013).

The 2012–2013 fodder crisis in Ireland occurred after a series of meteorological events: a summer of belowaverage temperatures and sunshine hours combined with above-average rainfall, a cool and dry autumn, a cold and wet winter, and a very cold spring with variable rainfall (Hickey et al., 2018). These events led to delays in the start of grass growth in the spring of 2013 (Hickey et al., 2018), followed by ground conditions that were too wet for grazing (Dermody, 2013). As a result of the 2012–2013 fodder crisis, input expenditure, especially on animal feed, was very high in 2013 (Hennessy and Moran, 2015), as fodder had to be imported and greater amounts of concentrate feed had to be used (Dermody, 2013; Hickey et al., 2018). Other economic consequences of this fodder crisis included a reduction in milk production, early culling of cattle and livestock deaths (Hickey et al., 2018). This fodder crisis is estimated to have cost the Irish agricultural sector around €500 million. Feed costs in the livestock sector were 50-70% higher than average. The impacts were felt most strongly in the south and west, where the grazing season is usually

longer, as farmers in these regions typically rely less on purchased feeds than those in other areas, which increased their vulnerability to the weather conditions (Hennessy, 2013).

The 2018 event was associated with a summer heatwave and drought, which was preceded by heavy snowfalls in February. However, the fodder crisis was limited in scope thanks to a strong recovery of grass growth and fodder production in autumn. A similar outcome occurred in two crises in the early 2020s, albeit with different causes. In 2020, very dry conditions in March, April and May led to a widespread drought being declared, which was followed by a wet June and July (Met Éireann, 2021). In 2022, there was another heatwave and drought, with numerous temperature records being set in July and August.

Three drought events of note, which resulted in fodder crises, occurred in 1976, 2018 and 2022, and all were associated with a blocking anticyclone. In this scenario, a large high-pressure system remains over Ireland for several weeks. This blocks the usual pathway of Atlantic depressions associated with high rainfall, leading to high temperatures and low precipitation and, as a result, a significant drop in grass growth (Falzoi *et al.*, 2019; Swindles *et al.*, 2010). The 2020 event was also associated with a blocking anticyclone (Met Éireann, 2021).

2.2 Prehistoric and Historical Droughts and Fodder Crises

There has been significant research on droughts in Ireland covering the last 4500 years and using a variety of techniques at different timescales. Swindles *et al.* (2010) were able to identify summer droughts in Ireland over the last 4500 years through the analysis of testate amoeba-derived water table reconstructions from raised peat bogs. Four coherent dry phases are identified in the records at *c*.1150–800 BC, 320 BC– AD 150, AD 250–470 and AD 1850–2000; however, at this scale, it is not possible to infer the likelihood of fodder shortages. Hickey (2023) infers some losses due to fodder shortages by looking at historical cattle losses from epizootics and extreme weather, e.g. in AD 1139, but most non-disease-related cattle losses were associated with winter cold spells.

Extensive work has been carried out on droughts in Ireland going back to 1765, and Murphy et al. (2020) note that there were significant fodder issues for Ireland during the extreme droughts of 1765-1768 and 1834–1836. Work on Irish drought and precipitation indices by Murphy et al. (2017), Noone et al. (2017) and O'Connor et al. (2022) clearly identifies several drought-rich periods, defined by Noone et al. (2017) as periods in which at least 40% of the 25-station study sample experienced events of at least 18 months' duration. These include 1803-1806, 1854-1859, 1933-1935, 1944-1945, 1953-1954 and 1975-1977. Droughts in 1887-1888, 1891-1894 and 1971–1974 were also identified and categorised by O'Connor et al. (2022) as "moderate" by the contemporaneous values of standardised precipitation index and standardised streamflow index, according to the classification of McKee et al. (1993). Although there is summary mention of agricultural impacts in these drought studies, any detailed assessment of these impacts is outside the remit of the articles. O'Connor et al. (2023) examined the impacts at a summary level using 11,000 reports from newspaper archives and 15 drought impact categories, which were then further grouped into two simple categories: land-based impact reports and water-based impact reports. However, no direct mention of fodder is made.

3 Data Sources and Modelling Approach

3.1 Overview of Approach

The study area is the island of Ireland (hereafter referred to as "Ireland"), which spans approximately 5.4–10.7°W and 51.4–55.5°N. Grass growth was modelled using hindcasts of climate model datasets for a 30-year historical reference period, 1976–2005. Similarly, projections of climate model datasets under climate change scenarios for a 30-year future reference period, 2041–2070, were used to model climate change risks to grass growth in the mid-21st century.

The overall modelling framework is represented in Figure 3.1. To evaluate the grass growth model's performance, grass growth, modelled using Met Éireann Re-Analysis (MÉRA) weather data as input, was compared with contemporaneous observations of grass growth for the period of overlap, 2013–2018. The suitability of the climate model data was assessed by using the data to drive the grass growth model for the historical period, and then comparing the simulated grass growth against that driven by the MÉRA data for the period of overlap. Lastly, the model was run with future climate model data for the period 2041–2070, which was compared with the historical climate model data runs to project changes under future climatic conditions.

3.2 Model Description

The ModVege¹ grass growth model, developed by Jouven *et al.* (2006a,b) at the French National Research Institute for Agriculture, Food and Environment (INRAE), was used in this study to simulate grass growth. ModVege is a mechanistic, dynamic model for managed permanent grasslands that has been parameterised for the temperate mountainous Auvergne region in central France (Jouven *et al.*, 2006a).

ModVege has been adapted in a number of studies to model grasslands in China (Zhang et al., 2022), France (Lardy et al., 2011, 2012; Ruelle et al., 2018), Ireland (Hurtado-Uria et al., 2013b; Ruelle et al., 2018) and Switzerland (Bittar et al., 2018; Calanca et al., 2016). Hurtado-Uria et al. (2013b) performed an evaluation of three models, including ModVege, for predicting grass growth in Ireland over a period of 5 years using data from Teagasc's Animal and Grassland Research and Innovation Centre in Moorepark, County Cork. The authors concluded that the ModVege model is likely to be suitable for modelling grass growth in Ireland because it is not empirical and requires universal input parameters, which are likely to make it more effective under meteorological conditions affected by climate change



Figure 3.1. Overall modelling framework for ClimAg.

¹ The grass growth model developed by Jouven et al. (2006a) has been referred to as "ModVege" in subsequent publications.

(Hurtado-Uria *et al.*, 2013b). The Moorepark St Gilles grass growth model, developed jointly by Teagasc in Moorepark and INRAE in Saint-Gilles, France, uses the ModVege model as its basis (Ruelle *et al.*, 2018).

ModVege runs at a daily frequency for one calendar year and requires four meteorological time series inputs: mean temperature (°C), incident photosynthetically active radiation ($MJm^{-2}day^{-1}$), precipitation ($mmday^{-1}$) and potential evapotranspiration ($mmday^{-1}$) (Jouven *et al.*, 2006a). A cutting height is specified to simulate biomass harvests, and the model assumes that there will be no reproductive growth after a cutting event (Jouven *et al.*, 2006a).

3.3 Climate Data

3.3.1 Climate model datasets – EURO-CORDEX and HiResIreland

Two downscaled climate model datasets were used as the source of meteorological inputs to model future grass growth. These were HiResIreland, developed by the Irish Centre for High-End Computing (Nolan and Flanagan, 2020), and EURO-CORDEX (Coordinated Downscaling Experiment – European Domain), developed as part of the World Climate Research Programme's coordinated downscaling experiment (Jacob et al., 2014). These datasets are regional climate model (RCM) outputs driven by global climate models of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 (CMIP5) (Taylor et al., 2012), which have been downscaled to cover smaller geographical domains at higher horizontal resolutions. HiResIreland covers Ireland at a horizontal resolution of approximately 4 km (Nolan and Flanagan, 2020), while the high-resolution EURO-CORDEX dataset (EUR-11) covers Europe at a horizontal resolution of approximately 12.5 km (Jacob et al., 2014).

CMIP5 outputs were evaluated in the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change and use Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) to define future scenarios (Chen *et al.*, 2021; Taylor *et al.*, 2012). Data for two RCP scenarios – RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 – are available for both HiResIreland and EURO-CORDEX datasets. RCP4.5 is a stabilisation pathway to a radiative forcing level of 4.5 W m⁻² without overshoot by 2100, corresponding to approximately 1.4°C of global mean surface temperature increase by the mid-21st century, while RCP8.5 is a rising pathway to a radiative forcing level of 8.5 W m⁻² by 2100, corresponding to approximately 2.0°C of global mean surface temperature increase by the mid-21st century (Stocker *et al.*, 2013; van Vuuren *et al.*, 2011). RCP8.5 is considered a highly unlikely outcome, but it was used in this study to represent the worstcase, high-risk baseline scenario with no mitigation policies; RCP4.5 reflects a more-plausible trajectory with modest mitigation policies (Hausfather and Peters, 2020), but it would still be likely to exceed the Paris Agreement goal of limiting the global mean temperature increase to well below 2°C (Stocker *et al.*, 2013; United Nations, 2015).

The RCMs used to generate the climate model data are COSMO5-CLM for HiResIreland and RCA4 for EURO-CORDEX. These outputs were driven by four global climate model-ensemble pairs: HadGEM2-ES (r1i1p1), EC–Earth (r12i1p1), MPI-ESM–LR (r1i1p1) and CNRM-CM5 (r1i1p1). The notation in parentheses refers to the particular ensemble member's model realisation/initial conditions (r), initialisation procedure (i) and physical parameterisations (p). The historical climate runs of the HiResIreland COSMO5-CLM RCM have been validated using observational weather data from Met Éireann and the UK Met Office and the ERA-Interim reanalysis dataset (Nolan and Flanagan, 2020), while those of the EURO-CORDEX RCA4 RCM have been validated using the ERA-Interim reanalysis dataset and a number of observational datasets (Strandberg et al., 2014).

3.3.2 Reanalysis weather dataset – Met Éireann Reanalysis

MÉRA is a high-resolution regional climate reanalysis dataset operated by Met Éireann, the Irish National Meteorological Service, which geographically covers Ireland, the UK and part of northern France (Gleeson *et al.*, 2017; Whelan *et al.*, 2017, 2018). The dataset, which is archived at a 3-hour frequency, is available for the years 1981–2019 and has a horizontal grid spacing of 2.5 km. The spatial resolution, temporal coverage and prior validation of MÉRA make it suitable as a historical dataset for evaluating grass growth models. Data from the 3-hour forecast data stream, which comprise 1-, 2- and 3-hour forecast data (Whelan *et al.*, 2017), were used to generate daily frequency meteorological input data for ModVege.

3.3.3 Grass growth measurements – PastureBase Ireland and GrassCheck NI

Grass growth measurements were used to evaluate ModVege simulations. PastureBase Ireland (PBI),² developed by Teagasc, has historical grass growth data for Ireland, starting from the year 2013 (Hanrahan *et al.*, 2017). PBI is a farm management application used by commercial farmers around Ireland to report measurements, such as dry matter percentage, farm cover and grass demand, to Teagasc. Participating farmers use PBI to report grass cover estimates on a weekly basis, which are then used by PBI to estimate daily grass growth rates. These data are aggregated at county level and are available at a weekly frequency (Hanrahan *et al.*, 2017).

Similar weekly frequency grass growth data for Northern Ireland are available through the GrassCheck NI³ project, which is operated by AgriSearch and the Agri-Food and Biosciences Institute (Huson *et al.*, 2020). This dataset covers the main grass-growing season, from March to October, and regional summary measurements are available in published bulletins, starting from the year 2017 (Huson *et al.*, 2020). Regional summaries are calculated from weekly growth rates for individual farms participating in the project (Huson *et al.*, 2020). Forty-five commercial farms across Northern Ireland were participating in the GrassCheck NI project as at 2020 (Huson *et al.*, 2020). While PBI data also include measurements for some of the six counties of Northern Ireland, these were removed in favour of GrassCheck NI data, which had better overall coverage.

3.3.4 Climate data preparation

The list of variables from climate model datasets used in the study is shown in Table 3.1. For some variables, the units must be converted prior to being used as inputs to the ModVege model. The precipitation unit of kg m⁻² day⁻¹ is equivalent to mm day⁻¹, assuming a water density of 1000 kg m⁻³. Hail and snow were not separated from total precipitation to simplify the analysis. Simulations driven by these climate model datasets were run for the historical (1976–2005) and future (2041–2070) reference periods.

Photosynthetically active radiation is a variable required by ModVege but is unavailable in most climate datasets. To approximate this variable, the global radiation was multiplied by an irradiance ratio of 0.473, which is a value derived by Papaioannou *et al.* (1993) based on irradiance measurements over 12 months in Athens, Greece. The surface downwelling shortwave radiation in EURO-CORDEX is equivalent to the global radiation; for HiResIreland, this was calculated by summing the averaged direct and diffuse downwards shortwave radiation components. As the MÉRA dataset does not include evapotranspiration, this was instead estimated using the FAO Penman–Monteith equation (Allen *et al.*, 1998). The climate data files were subsetted

| Dataset | Variable | Unit | Unit conversion |
|--------------|---|-------------------------------------|--|
| EURO-CORDEX | Precipitation rate | kg m ⁻² s ⁻¹ | ×86,400 (mm day⁻¹) |
| HiResIreland | Total precipitation amount | kgm ⁻² day ⁻¹ | ×1 (mmday⁻¹) |
| EURO-CORDEX | Potential evapotranspiration | kg m ⁻² s ⁻¹ | ×86,400 (mmday⁻¹) |
| HiResIreland | Evapotranspiration | mm day ⁻¹ | None |
| EURO-CORDEX | Near-surface air temperature | К | −273.15 (°C) |
| HiResIreland | 2 m temperature | К | −273.15 (°C) |
| EURO-CORDEX | Surface downwelling shortwave radiation | W m⁻² | × 0.0864 (MJ m ⁻² day ⁻¹) |
| HiResIreland | Averaged direct downwards shortwave radiation at the surface | W m⁻² | ×0.0864 (MJm ⁻² day ⁻¹) |
| HiResIreland | Averaged diffuse downwards shortwave radiation at the surface | W m ⁻² | × 0.0864 (MJ m ⁻² day ⁻¹) |

Table 3.1. List of climate model dataset variables used in this study

² PBI website: https://pasturebase.teagasc.ie (accessed 5 February 2024).

³ GrassCheck NI website: https://agrisearch.org/grasscheck (accessed 5 February 2024).

spatially using boundary data for Ireland derived from Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics regions.⁴

3.4 Model Localisation and Implementation

Although the ModVege model is mechanistic rather than empirical, some calibrations were made to the model's empirical functions and default parameters, as recommended in Hurtado-Uria et al. (2013b), to make it more suitable for the Irish case study; the Auvergne region for which ModVege is parameterised, while temperate, is landlocked and mountainous, and therefore differs from the conditions in Ireland. These include site-specific model parameters, such as the sum of temperature thresholds at the beginning and end of the reproductive period and the seasonal effect (SEA). Perennial ryegrass makes up 95% of forage grass seeds sold in Ireland, making it the most important and commonly used grass species (Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, 2021), and therefore the ModVege grassland community in this study was assumed to grow only perennial ryegrass. Some parameters, such as the bulk densities of the structural compartments of biomass, minimum and optimal temperatures for grass growth, organic matter digestibility ranges and leaf lifespan, were assumed to be the default values for functional group A (suitable for perennial ryegrass), as defined in Jouven et al. (2006a).

3.4.1 Grass-growing season

The seasonality of grass growth differs across Ireland. An example of a study that has explored this is Connaughton (1973), in which the start and end dates of the grass-growing season were derived for a number of representative locations with meteorological stations across Ireland, based on soil temperature thresholds using measurements for the years 1954–1968. Some locations in Ireland had very long or continuous grass-growing seasons, such as Valentia Observatory, County Kerry, and Roche's Point, County Cork, while the locations with the shortest grassgrowing seasons were Moneydig, County Derry, and Hillsborough, County Down (Connaughton, 1973). This corresponds to a grass-growing season ranging from about 8 months in the north-east to up to 11 months in the extreme south-west (van den Pol-van Dasselaar *et al.*, 2020).

ModVege defines the grass-growing season as the period between two sum of temperature thresholds, which are the accumulated temperatures from 1 January at the beginning (ST₁) and end (ST₂) of the reproductive period (Jouven et al., 2006a). An empirical function is used to describe the SEA using sum of temperature thresholds, with the onset of growth occurring when the sum of temperatures is 200°Cd (degree-days) (Jouven et al., 2006a). To dynamically derive the start of the grass-growing season for each location and each year in terms of ST₁, the definition by Nolan and Flanagan (2020) was used, where the grass-growing season begins at the first occurrence of at least 6 consecutive days with a daily mean temperature of at least 5°C. Rather than using a similar definition for the end of the grassgrowing season, ST₂ was assumed to equal the sum of temperatures on 31 December; grass was assumed to continue growing until the end of the year, as the end of the grass-growing season may occur between November and January (Connaughton, 1973). Since the grass-growing season in Ireland begins between January and March, ST, will always be less than the 200°Cd threshold for the onset of growth defined in ModVege, which makes the SEA function unsuitable for Ireland. Therefore, SEA was assumed to be a constant value of 1 to simplify modelling.

Daily time series meteorological data for Met Éireann's Valentia Observatory meteorological station⁵ for the years 2019–2021 were used to test model outputs during this parameterisation, as this station had more complete readings of evapotranspiration, and Valentia is a location characterised by a very long or continuous growing season (Connaughton, 1973).

3.4.2 Leaf area index

The leaf area index (LAI) in ModVege is a function of the specific leaf area, the percentage of laminae in the green vegetative compartment and the standing biomass of the green vegetative compartment (Jouven

⁴ Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics and statistical regions 2021: https://doi.org/10.2785/321792

⁵ Met Éireann Valentia Observatory daily data: https://data.gov.ie/dataset/valentia-observatory-daily-data (accessed 5 February 2024).

et al., 2006a). It was noted that using this function causes the simulation values to converge to zero over time, particularly when there is no grass cutting height specified, meaning that the grass is left to grow without any harvesting. This causes the green reproductive biomass to accumulate and reduces the proportion of green vegetative biomass, which LAI is dependent on, and the growth rates do not recover to normal levels over time. To address this, the LAI was instead calculated using the sum of the green vegetative and green reproductive compartments.

3.4.3 Site-specific characteristics

Two site-specific characteristic inputs of ModVege, namely the nitrogen nutritional index (NNI) and soil water-holding capacity (WHC), were derived from European Soil Database and soil properties data collated by the European Soil Data Centre (ESDAC)⁶ (Panagos *et al.*, 2012, 2022).

The NNI was estimated using a map of soil chemical properties at European scale based on topsoil data from the Land Use and Cover Area frame Survey 2009/2012, which provide soil nitrogen content modelled using Gaussian process regression from 22,000 sample point data across Europe (Ballabio *et al.*, 2019). Soil organic carbon, vegetation, climate, soil texture and agricultural land use influence the soil nitrogen distribution (Ballabio *et al.*, 2019). To derive the NNI from topsoil nitrogen data, the values were normalised between 0.35 and 1.0, as required by ModVege (Jouven *et al.*, 2006a). Low values of NNI indicate poor soil fertility, while high values show that nitrogen is not limiting growth (Hurtado-Uria *et al.*, 2013b).

Soil WHC was estimated using European Soil Database data, which include a map of the total available water content (mm) derived using a pedo-transfer function (Hiederer, 2013a,b). Data are available at 1 km resolution. The total available water content is a function of the available water content, depth and presence of coarse fragments, and describes the water content between field capacity and permanent wilting point (Hiederer, 2013a,b). Maps of the soil data gridded for the HiResIreland dataset are shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2. NNI (left) and soil WHC (right) derived from ESDAC soil data and gridded for the HiResIreland climate model dataset.

⁶ ESDAC website: https://esdac.jrc.ec.europa.eu/ (accessed 5 February 2024).

3.4.4 Management factors

Teagasc recommends that residual grass be maintained at a height of 4–5 cm post-grazing (O'Riordan, 2016); therefore, the default minimum residual grass height of 5 cm used in ModVege was preserved. The model is adapted to include grazing as an additional management factor.

The total amount of grass grazed per day (kg DM ha⁻¹ day⁻¹) is quantified using the product of the stocking rate (LU ha⁻¹) and the amount of grass consumed per livestock unit per day (kgDMLU⁻¹day⁻¹). The stocking rate was calculated by dividing the number of livestock units by the grassland area in hectares in each electoral division or ward in Ireland,7 using the latest available Census of Agriculture for the Republic of Ireland (Central Statistics Office, 2022b) and the Agricultural Census in Northern Ireland (Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs, 2019). Livestock units were calculated as the sum of the total number of cattle in the division/ward multiplied by the livestock coefficient for cattle and the total number of sheep in the division/ward multiplied by the livestock coefficient for sheep. Based on Eurostat (2022) definitions, a livestock coefficient of 0.8 was used for cattle, as the cattle population was assumed to include both dairy and non-dairy cattle, while a livestock coefficient of 0.1 was used for sheep. A map of the stocking rate data on the HiResIreland grid is shown in Figure 3.3.

The average amount of grass consumed per LU is estimated to be 13 kg DM day⁻¹ based on Teagasc data (Kavanagh, 2016) and estimates used by Broad and Hough (1993) for dairy cows; one dairy cow is equivalent to one LU (Eurostat, 2022). Selective grazing has been observed in cows, and the amount of available forage and its digestibility influence the degree of selection (Mohammed *et al.*, 2009). The organic matter digestibility, which is calculated in ModVege for each biomass compartment, was therefore used to determine the proportion of biomass compartments that make up the grass consumption of 13 kg DMLU⁻¹ day⁻¹.



Figure 3.3. Stocking rate derived using the Census of Agriculture for the Republic of Ireland and the Agricultural Census in Northern Ireland and gridded for the HiResIreland climate model dataset.

The grazing season is not equivalent to the grassgrowing season, as there must be a delay between the start of the grass-growing season and the grazing season to allow sufficient plant cover for grazing, as well as to enable animals and machinery to pass over the land (Nolan and Flanagan, 2020). Based on Broad and Hough (1993), the start of the grazing season was implemented as 10 days after the beginning of the grass-growing season. The grazing season was assumed to continue as long as enough biomass was available for consumption, with all grazing stopping on 1 December, as all animals are housed by late November (Kavanagh, 2016). A single harvesting event would take place before the end of the grazing season, which harvests any surplus grass, leaving residual grass at a height of 5 cm. As recommended by Jouven et al. (2006a), biomass losses during grazing and harvesting events were assumed to be 10%.

⁷ Boundary data from the following sources were used: Electoral Divisions – National Statutory Boundaries – 2019 (https://dataosi.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/osi::electoral-divisions-national-statutory-boundaries-2019/about; accessed 12 March 2024); and Wards (December 2022) Boundaries UK BFC (https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/datasets/ons::wards-december-2022-boundariesuk-bfc; accessed 5 February 2024).

3.4.5 Computer implementation

The Python programming language⁸ was used to process data, implement the grass growth model and analyse results.⁹ The ModVege model used in this study was adapted from an open-source Python implementation.¹⁰ The model was then run by iterating over each grid point, extracting the variables as daily time series data, calculating the sum of temperature thresholds defining the grass-growing and grazing seasons, and simulating grass growth for the grid point.

Estimates of the sward status were used at the beginning of the simulation. In addition, water reserves and 10-day moving average temperatures at the beginning of the simulation were also needed. The water reserves at the beginning of the simulation were assumed to equal the soil WHC, and the actual temperatures were used for the first 9 days of the simulation in place of the 10-day moving average temperatures. As the sward status was estimated, an additional year of climate data were used as inputs for the first simulation year of each model run to spin-up the ModVege model, allowing the model outputs to converge from the second simulation year.

Model outputs include daily grass growth rates (kg DM ha⁻¹ day⁻¹) and standing biomass (kg DM ha⁻¹), which is the amount of grass available (i.e. not harvested or grazed) on the farm on a given day. Nonpasture areas as identified in CORINE (Coordination of Information on the Environment) Land Cover 2018 data (Copernicus Land Monitoring Service, 2020) for Ireland were masked out of maps showing the model simulation results.

3.5 Model Evaluation, Climate Data Assessment and Analysis

3.5.1 Grass growth model evaluation

To evaluate the ModVege model simulations, grass growth rates simulated using the MÉRA time series

were resampled at a weekly frequency, averaged at county level,¹¹ and compared with PBI and GrassCheck NI weekly measured grass growth data. It is worth noting that, since the grass growth measurement data were generated using raw inputs by farmers, the readings may contain errors arising from visual assessments, lags in data transfers and delays or gaps in reports from individual farms (E. Ruelle, Teagasc, personal communication, September 2022). As the PBI and GrassCheck NI grass growth measurements are from managed farms, only grid points in the MÉRA dataset corresponding to pastures in the CORINE Land Cover 2018 data for Ireland were retained for comparison. The simulated and measured county-level time series of grass growth were compared. For overlapping data points, the root mean square error (RMSE) in the simulated grass growth per county was calculated, and linear regressions were performed for each season and for the overall data.

3.5.2 Assessment of grass growth simulated using historical climate model data

Simulations for the historical period driven by the climate model datasets were also compared with simulations driven by the MÉRA dataset to assess the results in terms of the performance of the climate model datasets in modelling grass growth. This step allowed the suitability of the climate model datasets for driving grass growth simulations to be determined. As the temporal coverage of MÉRA (1981–2019) does not match the historical reference period (1976-2005), this analysis was completed for a 25-year period (1981-2005) instead, so that data were available for both climate model and reanalysis weather datasets. The difference between the long-term averages of the simulations was then calculated and presented for each driving climate model, as well as for the ensemble.

⁸ Python website: https://www.python.org/ (accessed 5 February 2024).

⁹ Code for this project is open-source and hosted on GitHub: https://github.com/ClimAg (accessed 5 February 2024).

¹⁰ Code for the open-source ModVege Python implementation: https://code.europa.eu/agri4cast/modvege (accessed 5 February 2024).

¹¹ Boundary data from the following sources were used: Counties – National Statutory Boundaries – 2019 (https://data-osi.opendata. arcgis.com/datasets/osi::counties-national-statutory-boundaries-2019/about; accessed 12 March 2024); and OSNI Open Data – Largescale Boundaries – County Boundaries (https://www.opendatani.gov.uk/dataset/osni-open-data-largescale-boundariescounty-boundaries; accessed 5 February 2024).

3.5.3 Analysis of future projections of grass growth under climate change

The differences between historical and future (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5) grass growth simulated using climate model datasets were used to determine the risk to grass production from climate change. According to Green (2019), comparing grass growth in a given year with the long-term average can act as a national fodder shortage indicator. To evaluate the likelihood of fodder crises occurring in the future, changes in grass growth were identified by comparing long-term ensemble means of daily grass growth under future scenarios (2041-2070) with those of the historical period (1976-2005). As Teagasc recommends a closing farm cover of 500– $600 \text{ kg DM ha^{-1}}$ to ensure that there is sufficient grass for grazing in the following spring (Trayers, 2021), the closing farm cover in December, calculated as the long-term ensemble mean of the standing biomass in December for both historical and future reference periods, was also used as a fodder shortage indicator.

4 Evaluation of Modelled Grass Growth

4.1 Root Mean Square Error

The RMSE in predicted grass growth was used to evaluate the model performance. The RMSE was calculated using simulated grass growth driven by the MÉRA time series and the measured PBI and GrassCheck NI grass growth data at county level (Figure 4.1). This showed that, in terms of grass growth RMSE, County Leitrim and County Dublin are the two worst-performing counties, but this may be attributable to these counties having fewer measured data points. The model outputs most closely matched the reported grass growth data for counties in the south-west as well as County Donegal. The overall RMSE for all counties was 20.2 kg DM ha⁻¹ day⁻¹. The RMSE also varied by season, with the overall RMSE in autumn being the lowest (14.9 kg DM ha⁻¹ day⁻¹), followed by summer (22.2 kg DM ha⁻¹ day⁻¹) and spring (26.9 kg DM ha⁻¹ day⁻¹); winter growth was not considered, as growth rates are very low.



Figure 4.1. RMSE of simulated daily grass growth rates by county.

4.2 Time Series Comparison

County Wexford was used as a representative county, as its RMSE (20.3 kg DM ha⁻¹ day⁻¹) is close to the overall model performance across all counties and it is a useful case study because the 2018 fodder crisis mainly impacted the south-east region of Ireland. In September 2018, 56% of farmers in the south-east reported fodder deficits, with an average reported shortage of 24% of the required level (Kavanagh, 2018). Time series plots comparing simulated and measured grass growth for County Wexford are shown in Figure 4.2. The time series plots show that the ModVege model outputs have delays in the start of the grass-growing season in spring. In comparison, the end of the grass-growing season in autumn is better aligned with the measured data, which indicates that the model predicts a shorter growing season. The peak growth values are modelled well, but spring growth is generally underpredicted. In addition, the model was found to exaggerate the effects of extreme weather events, e.g. the impact of drought on grass growth in the summer of 2018 can be seen in both simulated and measured values, but the simulated values drop to zero and do not recover to normal levels, remaining below average.

Time series plots comparing simulated and measured grass growth for the county with the lowest overall RMSE, County Kerry, are shown in Figure 4.3. Unlike County Wexford, the simulated grass growth curve for County Kerry matches the measured values very closely, with only slight underpredictions in the spring and autumn and some overprediction of peak growth. The exaggerated effects of the 2018 drought can also be seen in the simulated values.

Linear regression of simulated daily grass growth values against corresponding observations, pooled across the entire study area and all seasons, showed good overall linearity (slope = 1.0; R^2 = 0.63). When linear regression was carried out on a seasonal basis (except winter), the model performed best for autumn (September–November: slope = 0.98; R^2 = 0.58) and worst for spring (March–May: slope = 0.73; R^2 = 0.56).



Figure 4.2. Representative weekly time series of simulated (MÉRA) and measured (PBI) daily grass growth rates for County Wexford for the years 2012–2022. The dashed line represents the average measured value.



Figure 4.3. Representative weekly time series of simulated (MÉRA) and measured (PBI) daily grass growth rates for County Kerry for the years 2012–2022. The dashed line represents the average measured value.

Spring growth is delayed in the model, leading to underprediction because many of the simulated values are zero when the measured values show growth. As shown in the representative time series plots, the model may also overpredict peak growth values and exaggerate the effects of extreme weather events.

5 Assessment of Historical Grass Growth Simulated using Climate Model Datasets

Figure 5.1 shows how closely simulations of grass growth driven by climate model datasets match those driven by the MÉRA dataset for the period of overlap, 1981–2005. Simulations driven by EURO-CORDEX generally overpredict grass growth. The simulations driven by HiResIreland more closely match those of the reanalysis weather data; however, there are notable differences between results from different driving climate models. In general, there is a higher degree of confidence in the accuracy of the simulations driven by HiResIreland data than those driven by EURO-CORDEX data. The reasons for the divergent performance of the two climate models are not clear but may relate to differences in the accumulated variables (i.e. precipitation and radiation) between the two datasets; the EURO-CORDEX dataset had higher precipitation and radiation values.



Figure 5.1. Difference in the long-term means (1981–2005) of historical daily grass growth rate simulations driven by the climate model datasets compared with those driven by the MÉRA dataset.

6 Future Occurrence and Severity of Fodder Crises under Climate Change

6.1 Annual Grass Growth Anomalies

This section focuses on differences between the means of simulated annual grass growth in the future period (2041–2070) and the historical period (1976–2005). These differences are presented as anomalies. A positive anomaly indicates an increase in annual growth under future climatic conditions, and a negative anomaly indicates a decrease. Anomalies are presented for both RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 climate change scenarios.

Figure 6.1 shows the anomalies calculated from the simulation outputs driven by two different climate model datasets under two different climate change scenarios. There are differences between the outputs from different driving climate datasets. Simulations driven by EURO-CORDEX data project an increase

in future grass growth compared with the historical average throughout Ireland, except in the south-east and coastal areas in the east and south. Meanwhile, simulations driven by HiResIreland data predict a decrease in future grass growth throughout the island. The magnitude of the increase in future grass growth projected in the simulations driven by EURO-CORDEX is larger than the magnitude of decrease in future grass growth projected in the simulations driven by HiResIreland. In addition, the magnitudes of changes are larger under the RCP8.5 scenario than under the RCP4.5 scenario. As the HiResIreland data-driven historical simulations were shown to more closely match simulations driven by the MÉRA dataset (see Chapter 5), only HiResIreland-driven outputs will be presented in the remainder of this chapter.



Figure 6.1. Anomalies between the long-term annual ensemble means of future (2041–2070) daily grass growth rates driven by the EURO-CORDEX and HiResIreland climate model datasets and those of the historical period (1976–2005).

6.2 Seasonal Grass Growth Anomalies

Figure 6.2 shows anomalies between seasonal grass growth rates for the period 2041–2070 and the

historical period, 1976–2005, by season and climate change scenario. Winter anomalies are not shown, as growth rates were very low compared with the other seasons. Widespread positive anomalies are present in spring (MAM, March–May) and negative anomalies



Figure 6.2. Anomalies in the long-term ensemble means between future (2041–2070) daily grass growth rates driven by the HiResIreland dataset for spring (MAM), summer (JJA) and autumn (SON) and those for the historical period (1976–2005).



Figure 6.3. Closing farm cover in December for the historical (1976–2005) and future (2041–2070) periods under RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 scenarios, driven by the HiResIreland dataset.

in summer (JJA, June–August). This is consistent with an earlier start to the growing season and more frequent dry conditions in summer; however, some of this is probably due to the model's poor representation of the early growing season, indicating delayed growth in the model and shifting growth from the spring into the summer. Simulations generally project an increase or no change in future autumn (SON, September– November) grass growth in the north-west of Ireland, and a decrease in the rest of the island.

6.3 Closing Farm Cover

Another fodder shortage indicator used was the closing farm cover, calculated as the long-term ensemble mean of the standing biomass in December. Figure 6.3 shows that December farm cover decreases in the future period (2041–2070) under both climate change scenarios and in most areas of the country. In many areas the cover falls below the Teagasc-recommended value of 500–600 kg DM ha⁻¹ (Trayers, 2021). This indicates increased vulnerability in the following year, in that spring growth may be delayed.

7 Discussion and Recommendations

7.1 Key Results

A comprehensive review of factors driving the emergence and development of fodder crisis events in Ireland was carried out. The analysis was complemented with a detailed analysis of fodder crises in the period 1946–2022, for which detailed weather and impact data are available. Blocking anticyclones leading to low precipitation and high temperatures have been identified as a driving factor in several significant fodder crisis events in the study period. Several of the most severe events were multifactorial in nature. An impact-based fodder crisis severity index was developed and used to classify past occurrences of fodder crises.

An integrated modelling framework was developed and applied to simulate future risks to fodder production in Ireland. The framework couples high-resolution downscaled climate datasets with a mechanistic, dynamic model of grass growth. The model's performance was evaluated using highly accurate MÉRA data as input and comparing the outputs with reported grass growth data from PBI and GrassCheck NI.

Grass growth simulations driven by the HiResIreland dataset better matched observed historical grass growth patterns than simulations driven by EURO-CORDEX data. There was good agreement between grass growth rates derived from on-farm reports and from model simulations driven by historical reanalysis weather data and good agreement between the reanalysis data-driven model outputs and those driven by the historical period of HiResIreland climate data.

HiResIreland data-driven simulations predict a general decrease in future (2041–2070) total annual grass growth throughout Ireland compared with the historical period (1976–2005). The decrease in annual growth rate was more pronounced in the more extreme RCP8.5 climate change scenario than in the more probable and less extreme RCP4.5 scenario. RCP4.5 corresponds to an increase in global mean temperature of 1.4°C by the mid-21st century, whereas RCP8.5 corresponds to an increase of 2.0°C. Growth limitation due to heat stress is unlikely to occur in any area of the country, even in the worstcase future climate scenario. However, interactions between drought and heat may lead to reduced growth in particular years. The predicted effects of climate change on grass growth are spatially variable. Fodder production and pasture systems in the north-west of the country are likely to remain more resilient than in the remainder of country under future climatic conditions, and decreases in production are most likely to occur in the south-east and during summer months in parts of the mid-west.

7.2 Further Discussion

The modelling framework performed well in general. There was a linear relationship between pooled model simulations and observations of daily grass growth rates for all locations. However, deviations between modelled and observed grass growth were observed, particularly at the start of the growing season (which was delayed in the model compared with the observed start of the season). The model predictions of spring growth rates were affected by this phenomenon. The model was also found to be over-sensitive to extreme weather events.

Widespread increases in grass growth rates under future climatic conditions were predicted for spring and widespread reductions predicted for summer. While this could be consistent with an earlier start to the growing season in spring and more frequent dry conditions in summer, caution is advised in interpreting these results, as it was seen that the model can struggle to accurately reproduce grass growth in the early growing season.

Autumn growth is particularly important for predicting fodder crises, as farmers rely on late-season grass growth for the subsequent year. Simulations driven by the HiResIreland dataset projected a general decrease in autumn growth, except in the north-west of the country, where an increase was predicted. In addition, average closing farm cover in December is projected to reduce in the future period, indicating an increased risk of fodder crises in subsequent years due to reduced levels of stored fodder and potentially slower resumption of grass growth in spring.

7.2.1 Proposed improvements to the model framework

Although the model simulated overall grass growth well, further modifications to the definition of the growing season in the model should be considered to better capture seasonal growth patterns. Defining the start of the growing season by a threshold value of accumulated temperatures works well for places with long or continuous growing seasons, such as County Kerry, but less well in the more seasonally variable conditions of County Wexford. Growing season may also be influenced by other climatic factors.

Variability in county-level model performance compared with the GrassCheck NI and PBI observations, based on RMSE, may be attributable to differences in measurement techniques or the aggregation and distribution of participating farms.

There are some limitations of the approach used to model the management factors. Farms in Ireland that are advised by Teagasc may follow several grassland management plans for each grass-growing period (Teagasc, n.d.). Between November and February, there is very little grass growth; therefore, to ensure that there is sufficient grass for grazing in the following spring, farmers are advised by Teagasc to grow and reserve grass in autumn, specifically in October, which can be achieved using the 60:40 autumn rotation planner (Trayers, 2021). The Teagasc-recommended closing farm cover is 500-600 kg DM ha⁻¹, which is equivalent to a residual grass height of 6 cm (Trayers, 2021). However, the model used in this study maintains a minimum residual grass height of 5 cm and harvests all surplus grass at the end of the grazing season. Further modifications to the harvesting and grazing functions of the model are required to more accurately portray the seasonal management regimes recommended by Teagasc for Ireland.

7.3 Recommendations

Based on the findings of Chapter 2, it is clear that many of the most severe fodder crises are multiannual in nature. The findings of this study also indicate an increased risk in future to the resilience of pasture systems from reductions in autumn growth and reduced cover at the end of the growing season, particularly in the south-east. Therefore, measures should be considered to mitigate such effects, e.g. earlier autumn closure or an increase in stored fodder provision.

An early warning system based on inputs such as autumn growing conditions and stock levels should be investigated to reduce the risk of low growth rates the following spring developing into a crisis situation if the weather conditions become unfavourable. If seasonal ensemble weather predictions become routinely available in the future, they could be used as inputs to the modelling framework developed in this project as a basis for an early warning system.

Multispecies swards offer clear environmental benefits, such as allowing lower nitrogen inputs. There is also some evidence that multispecies swards may be more resilient to droughts. The effect of sward composition on drought resilience should be considered in further research.

There is a need for a harmonised all-island approach to recording pasture grazing to allow consistent validation of model outcomes. Any new approach developed should also be backwards compatible, as far as possible, with the existing PBI and GrassCheck NI methods to allow consistency over long timescales.

References

- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D. and Smith, M. (1998). Reference evapotranspiration (ET_o). In *Crop Evapotranspiration: Guidelines for Computing Crop Water Requirements*. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper 56. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, pp. 15–86.
- Ballabio, C., Lugato, E., Fernández-Ugalde, O., Orgiazzi, A., Jones, A., Borrelli, P., Montanarella, L. and Panagos, P. (2019). Mapping LUCAS topsoil chemical properties at European scale using Gaussian process regression. *Geoderma* 355: 113912. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.geoderma.2019.113912
- Bell, M. J., Eckard, R. J., Harrison, M. T., Neal, J. S. and Cullen, B. R. (2013). Effect of warming on the productivity of perennial ryegrass and kikuyu pastures in south-eastern Australia. *Crop and Pasture Science* 64(1): 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1071/cp12358
- Bittar, A., Meisser, M., Mosimann, E. and Calanca, P. (2018). Simulation of Grass Growth and Pasture Yields with ModVege. Available at: https://www. agrarforschungschweiz.ch/en/2018/06/simulationof-grass-growth-and-pasture-yields-with-modvege/ (accessed 1 March 2023).
- Brereton, A. J., Danielov, S. A. and Scott, D. (1996). Agrometeorology of Grass and Grasslands for Middle Latitudes. World Meteorological Organization. Available at: https://library.wmo.int/doc_num. php?explnum_id=1855 (accessed 9 November 2022).
- Broad, H. J. and Hough, M. N. (1993). The growing and grazing season in the United Kingdom. *Grass* and Forage Science 48(1): 26–37. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2494.1993.tb01833.x
- Calanca, P., Deléglise, C., Martin, R., Carrère, P. and Mosimann, E. (2016). Testing the ability of a simple grassland model to simulate the seasonal effects of drought on herbage growth. *Field Crops Research* 187: 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2015.12.008
- Central Statistics Office (2022a). Environmental indicators Ireland 2022. Available at: https:// www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-eii/ environmentalindicatorsireland2022/landuse/ (accessed 14 December 2022).
- Central Statistics Office (2022b). Census of agriculture. Available at: https://www.cso.ie/en/statistics/ agriculture/censusofagriculture/ (accessed 4 November 2022).

- Central Statistics Office (2023a). Livestock slaughterings December 2022. Available at: https://www. cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-ls/ livestockslaughteringsdecember2022/ (accessed 18 February 2023).
- Central Statistics Office (2023b). Milk statistics December 2022. Available at: https://www. cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-ms/ milkstatisticsdecember2022/ (accessed 18 February 2023).
- Chen, D., Rojas, M., Samset, B. H., Cobb, K., Diongue Niang, A., Edwards, P., Emori, S., Faria, S. H., Hawkins, E., Hope, P. *et al.* (2021). Framing, context, and methods. In Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y. Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I. *et al.* (eds), *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 147–286. https://doi.org/10.1017/ 9781009157896.003
- Connaughton, M. J. (1973). *The Grass-growing Season in Ireland*. Dublin: Irish Meteorological Service. Available at: https://hdl.handle.net/2262/71182 (accessed 14 November 2022).
- Copernicus Land Monitoring Service (2020). CORINE Land Cover – CLC 2018. Available at: https://land. copernicus.eu/pan-european/corine-land-cover/ clc2018 (accessed 14 July 2022).
- Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs (2019). *Agricultural Census in Northern Ireland 2018*. Belfast: National Statistics. Available at: https://www. daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/agricultural-censusnorthern-ireland-2018 (accessed 21 May 2023).
- Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine (2021). *Grass and White Clover: Recommended List Varieties for Ireland 2021*. Leixlip. Available at: https:// www.gov.ie/en/publication/8dbf3-grass-and-whiteclover-recommended-list-varieties-for-ireland-2021/ (accessed 20 January 2023).
- Dermody, J. (2013). Fodder crisis sees cows starve to death. *Irish Examiner*, 18 April 2013. Available at: https://www.irishexaminer.com/news/arid-20228661. html (accessed 13 December 2022).

- Dillon, P., Roche, J. R., Shalloo, L. and Horan, B. (2005). Optimising financial returns from grazing in temperate pastures. In Murphy, J. J. (ed.), *Utilisation of Grazed Grass in Temperate Animal Systems*. Proceedings of a Satellite Workshop of the XXth International Grassland Congress, July 2005, Cork, Ireland. XXth International Grassland Congress, Wageningen: Wageningen Academic Publishers, pp. 131–147. https://doi.org/ 10.3920/978-90-8686-554-3
- Egan, M., Galvin, N. and Hennessy, D. (2018). Incorporating white clover (*Trifolium repens* L.) into perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.) swards receiving varying levels of nitrogen fertilizer: effects on milk and herbage production. *Journal of Dairy Science* 101(4): 3412–3427. https://doi.org/10.3168/ jds.2017-13233
- Eurostat (2022). Glossary: livestock unit (LSU). Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/ index.php?title=Glossary:Livestock_unit_(LSU) (accessed 2 November 2022).
- Falzoi, S., Gleeson, E., Lambkin, K., Zimmermann, J., Marwaha, R., O'Hara, R., Green, S. and Fratianni, S. (2019). Analysis of the severe drought in Ireland in 2018. *Weather* 74(11): 368–373. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/wea.3587
- Finn, J. A., Suter, M., Haughey, E., Hofer, D. and Lüscher, A. (2018). Greater gains in annual yields from increased plant diversity than losses from experimental drought in two temperate grasslands. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 258: 149–153. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.02.014
- French, P., Keogh, B., Shalloo, L. and McGrath, T. (2006). Forage crops for winter grazing, what are the options? In *Moorepark Dairy Levy Research Update: Alternative Options for Dairying*. Fermoy: Teagasc, pp. 3–8.
- Frisk, C. A., Xistris-Songpanya, G., Osborne, M., Biswas, Y., Melzer, R. and Yearsley, J. M. (2022).
 Phenotypic variation from waterlogging in multiple perennial ryegrass varieties under climate change conditions. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13(954478). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.954478
- Gleeson, E., Whelan, E. and Hanley, J. (2017). Met Éireann high resolution reanalysis for Ireland. In *Advances in Science and Research*. 16th EMS Annual Meeting & 11th European Conference on Applied Climatology (ECAC), Copernicus GmbH, pp. 49–61. https://doi.org/10.5194/asr-14-49-2017
- Grace, C., Boland, T. M., Sheridan, H., Brennan, E., Fritch, R. and Lynch, M. B. (2019). The effect of grazing versus cutting on dry matter production of multispecies and perennial ryegrass-only swards. *Grass and Forage Science* 74(3): 437–449. https://doi. org/10.1111/gfs.12440

- Grange, G., Finn, J. A. and Brophy, C. (2021). Plant diversity enhanced yield and mitigated drought impacts in intensively managed grassland communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 58(9): 1864–1875. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13894
- Green, S. (2019). Investigation into the bio-physical constraints on farmer turn-out-date decisions using remote sensing and meteorological data. PhD Thesis. University College Cork, Ireland.
- Green, S., Cawkwell, F. and Dwyer, E. (2018). A timedomain NDVI anomaly service for intensively managed grassland agriculture. *Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment* 11: 282–290. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rsase.2018.07.011
- Grogan, D. and Gilliland, T. J. (2011). A review of perennial ryegrass variety evaluation in Ireland. *Irish Journal of Agricultural and Food Research* 50: 65–81.
- Guy, C., Hennessy, D., Gilliland, T. J., Coughlan, F. and McCarthy, B. (2018). Growth, morphology and biological nitrogen fixation potential of perennial ryegrass-white clover swards throughout the grazing season. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 156(2): 188–199. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0021859618000199
- Hanrahan, L., Geoghegan, A., O'Donovan, M.,
 Griffith, V., Ruelle, E., Wallace, M. and Shalloo, L.
 (2017). PastureBase Ireland: a grassland decision support system and national database. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 136: 193–201. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.compag.2017.01.029
- Hausfather, Z. and Peters, G. P. (2020). Emissions the "business as usual" story is misleading. *Nature* 577: 618–620. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00177-3
- Hennessy, D., Delaby, L., van den Pol-van Dasselaar, A. and Shalloo, L. (2020). Increasing grazing in dairy cow milk production systems in Europe. *Sustainability* 12(6): 2443. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12062443
- Hennessy, D. P., Shalloo, L., van Zanten, H. H. E., Schop, M. and de Boer, I. J. M. (2021). The net contribution of livestock to the supply of human edible protein: the case of Ireland. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 159(5–6): 463–471. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s0021859621000642
- Hennessy, T. (2013). The 2012/2013 fodder crisis extent, cost and implications. In *Future Weather Future Farming: A Conference on Agriculture and Future Weather Patterns*. Ashtown, Dublin. Available at: https://www.teagasc.ie/publications/2013/futureweather-future-farming---videos.php (accessed 14 December 2022).

Hennessy, T. and Moran, B. (2015). *Teagasc National Farm Survey: 2014 Results*. Athenry: Teagasc. Available at: https://www.teagasc.ie/publications/2015/ teagasc-national-farm-survey-2014.php (accessed 13 December 2022).

Hickey, K. R. (2010). *Deluge: Ireland's weather disasters,* 2009–2010. Dublin: Four Courts Press. Available at: http://archive.org/details/delugeirelandswe0000hick (accessed 9 August 2023).

Hickey, K. R. (2023). The record of cattle epizootics and mortalities in Ireland up to 1851 and the role of extreme weather. Unpublished journal article.

Hickey, K., Leahy, P., Kiely, G., Allen, M., Pasik, A. and Hermida, L. (2018). The meteorological and climatological context of the fodder crises in Ireland in 2012–2013. In *Geophysical Research Abstracts. EGU General Assembly 2018*, Vienna. Available at: https:// meetingorganizer.copernicus.org/EGU2018/EGU2018-19342.pdf (accessed 25 July 2022).

Hiederer, R. (2013a). *Mapping Soil Properties for Europe – Spatial Representation of Soil Database Attributes*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2788/94128

Hiederer, R. (2013b). *Mapping Soil Typologies – Spatial Decision Support Applied to the European Soil Database*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2788/87286

Hofer, D., Suter, M., Haughey, E., Finn, J. A., Hoekstra, N. J., Buchmann, N. and Lüscher, A. (2016). Yield of temperate forage grassland species is either largely resistant or resilient to experimental summer drought. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 53(4): 1023–1034. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12694

Hofer, D., Suter, M., Buchmann, N. and Lüscher, A. (2017). Severe water deficit restricts biomass production of *Lolium perenne* L. and *Trifolium repens* L. and causes foliar nitrogen but not carbohydrate limitation. *Plant and Soil* 421: 367–380. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11104-017-3439-y

Hopkins, A. (2000). Herbage production. In Hopkins, A. (ed), *Grass: Its Production and Utilization*. 3rd edn. Published for the British Grassland Society by Blackwell Science. Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 90–110.

Hurtado-Uria, C., Hennessy, D., Shalloo, L., O'Connor, D. and Delaby, L. (2013a). Relationships between meteorological data and grass growth over time in the south of Ireland. *Irish Geography* 46(3): 175–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/00750778.2013.865364 Hurtado-Uria, C., Hennessy, D., Shalloo, L., Schulte, R. P. O., Delaby, L. and O'Connor, D. (2013b). Evaluation of three grass growth models to predict grass growth in Ireland. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 151: 91–104. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0021859612000317

Huson, K. M., Lively, F. O., Aubry, A., Takahashi, T.,
Gordon, A. and McDonnell, D. A. (2020). GrassCheck:
monitoring grass growth and maximizing
grass utilisation on UK farms. In Virkajärvi, P.,
Hakala, K., Hakojärvi, M., Helin, J., Herzon, I.,
Jokela, V., Peltonen, S., Rinne, M., Seppänen, M.
and Uusi-Kämppä, J. (eds), *Meeting the Future Demands for Grassland Production: Proceedings of the 28th General Meeting of the European Grassland Federation, Helsinki, Finland, 19–22 October 2020.*Helsinki: Natural Resources Institute Finland (Luke)
(Grassland Science in Europe), pp. 716–718. Available
at: https://www.europeangrassland.org/fileadmin/
documents/Infos/Printed_Matter/Proceedings/
EGF2020.pdf (accessed 13 September 2022).

Jacob, D., Petersen, J., Eggert, B., Alias, A., Bøssing Christensen, O., Bouwer, L. M., Braun, A., Colette, A., Déqué, M., Georgievski, G. *et al.* (2014). EURO-CORDEX: new high-resolution climate change projections for European impact research. *Regional Environmental Change* 14(2): 563–578. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10113-013-0499-2

Jiang, Y. and Huang, B. (2001). Physiological responses to heat stress alone or in combination with drought: a comparison between tall fescue and perennial ryegrass. *HortScience* 36(4): 682–686. https://doi. org/10.21273/hortsci.36.4.682

Jordon, M. W., Willis, K. J., Bürkner, P.-C. and Petrokofsky, G. (2022). Rotational grazing and multispecies herbal leys increase productivity in temperate pastoral systems – a meta-analysis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 337: 108075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2022.108075

Jouven, M., Carrère, P. and Baumont, R. (2006a). Model predicting dynamics of biomass, structure and digestibility of herbage in managed permanent pastures. 1. Model description. *Grass and Forage Science* 61(2): 112–124. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2494.2006.00515.x

Jouven, M., Carrère, P. and Baumont, R. (2006b). Model predicting dynamics of biomass, structure and digestibility of herbage in managed permanent pastures. 2. Model evaluation. *Grass and Forage Science* 61(2): 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2494.2006.00517.x

Kavanagh, S. (2016). Feeding the dairy cow. In *Teagasc Dairy Manual*. Teagasc, pp. 201–212. Available at: https://www.teagasc.ie/publications/2016/teagasc-dairy-manual.php (accessed 2 November 2022).

Kavanagh, S. (2018). *Fodder Census Results September 2018*. Teagasc. Available at: https://www. teagasc.ie/publications/2018/fodder-census-resultsseptember-2018.php (accessed 4 May 2023).

Kearns, K. C. (2012). Ireland's Arctic Siege of 1947: The Big Freeze of 1947. Dublin: Gill & Macmillan. Available at: https://books.google.ie/books?id=St_4AwAAQBAJ (accessed 9 August 2023).

Langworthy, A. D., Rawnsley, R. P., Freeman, M. J., Waller, P. A., Corkrey, R., Pembleton, K. G., Harrison, M. T., Lane, P. A. and Henry, D. A. (2020). Can irrigating more frequently mitigate detrimental heat wave effects on perennial ryegrass growth and persistence? *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 291: 108074. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.agrformet.2020.108074

Lardy, R., Bellocchi, G. G., Bachelet, B. and Hill, D. (2011). Climate change vulnerability assessment with constrained design of experiments, using a model-driven engineering approach. In *25th European Simulation and Modelling Conference (ESM)*, Guimarães, pp. 354–362. Available at: https:// hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-02802688 (accessed 4 November 2022).

Lardy, R., Martin, R., Bachelet, B., Hill, D. R. C. and Bellocchi, G. (2012). Ecosystem climate change vulnerability assessment framework. In Seppelt, R., Voinov, A. A., Lange, S. and Bankamp, D. (eds), 2012 International Congress on Environmental Modelling and Software. Managing Resources of a Limited Planet: Pathways and Visions under Uncertainty, Sixth Biennial Meeting. Leipzig: International Environmental Modelling and Software Society (iEMSs), pp. 777–784. Available at: https:// scholarsarchive.byu.edu/iemssconference/2012/ Stream-B/177/ (accessed 4 November 2022).

Liu, M. and Jiang, Y. (2015). Genotypic variation in growth and metabolic responses of perennial ryegrass exposed to short-term waterlogging and submergence stress. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 95: 57–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2015.07.008

Loka, D., Harper, J., Humphreys, M., Gasior, D., Wooton-Beard, P., Gwynn-Jones, D., Scullion, J., Doonan, J., Kingston-Smith, A., Dodd, R. *et al.* (2019). Impacts of abiotic stresses on the physiology and metabolism of cool-season grasses: A review. *Food and Energy Security* 8(1): e00152. https://doi.org/10.1002/fes3.152

Mac Cárthaigh, M. (1996). An assessment of the 1995 Drought: Including a Comparison with Other Known Drought Years. Johnstown Castle: Environmental Protection Agency. Available at: https:// www.epa.ie/publications/monitoring--assessment/ freshwater--marine/EPA_Assessment_of_1995_ Drought2.pdf (accessed 9 August 2023). McFarlane, N. M., Ciavarella, T. A. and Smith, K. F. (2003). The effects of waterlogging on growth, photosynthesis and biomass allocation in perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.) genotypes with contrasting root development. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 141(2): 241–248. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s0021859603003502

McKee, T. B., Doesken, N. J. and Kleist, J. (1993). The relationship of drought frequency and duration to time scales. In *Proceedings of the 8th Conference on Applied Climatology, 17–22 January*. Anaheim, CA, pp. 179–184. Available at: https://climate.colostate. edu/pdfs/relationshipofdroughtfrequency.pdf (accessed 19 April 2023).

Met Éireann (2021). *Climate Statement for 2020*. Met Éireann. Available at: https://www.met.ie/climate-statement-for-2020 (accessed 19 December 2023).

Mohammed, R., Stanton, C. S., Kennelly, J. J., Kramer, J. K. G., Mee, J. F., Glimm, D. R., O'Donovan, M. and Murphy, J. J. (2009). Grazing cows are more efficient than zero-grazed and grass silage-fed cows in milk rumenic acid production. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92(8): 3874–3893. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1613

Muller, B., Pantin, F., Génard, M., Turc, O., Freixes, S., Piques, M. and Gibon, Y. (2011). Water deficits uncouple growth from photosynthesis, increase C content, and modify the relationships between C and growth in sink organs. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62(6): 1715–1729. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq438

Murphy, C., Noone, S., Duffy, C., Broderick, C., Matthews, T. and Wilby, R. L. (2017). Irish droughts in newspaper archives: rediscovering forgotten hazards?. *Weather* 72(6): 151–155. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wea.2904

Murphy, C., Wilby, R. L., Matthews, T., Horvath, C., Crampsie, A., Ludlow, F., Noone, S., Brannigan, J., Hannaford, J., McLeman, R. and Jobbova, E. (2020). The forgotten drought of 1765–1768: reconstructing and re-evaluating historical droughts in the British and Irish Isles. *International Journal of Climatology* 40(12): 5329–5351. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6521

Naudts, K., Van den Berge, J., Janssens, I. A., Nijs, I. and Ceulemans, R. (2013). Combined effects of warming and elevated CO₂ on the impact of drought in grassland species. *Plant and Soil* 369(1): 497–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1595-2

Nolan, P. and Flanagan, J. (2020). *High-resolution Climate Projections for Ireland – A Multi-model Ensemble Approach*. Johnstown Castle: Environmental Protection Agency. Available at: https://epa.ie/pubs/ reports/research/climate/researchreport339/ (accessed 23 June 2022). Noone, S., Broderick, C., Duffy, C., Matthews, T., Wilby, R. L. and Murphy, C. (2017). A 250-year drought catalogue for the island of Ireland (1765–2015). *International Journal of Climatology* 37(S1): 239–254. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4999

O'Brien, D., Moran, B. and Shalloo, L. (2018). A national methodology to quantify the diet of grazing dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 101(9): 8595–8604. https:// doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-13604

O'Connor, P., Murphy, C., Matthews, T. and Wilby, R. L. (2022). Historical droughts in Irish catchments 1767–2016. *International Journal of Climatology* 42(11): 5442–5466. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.7542

O'Connor, P., Murphy, C., Matthews, T. and Wilby, R. L. (2023). Relating drought indices to impacts reported in newspaper articles. *International Journal of Climatology* 43: 1796–1816. https://doi.org/10.1002/ joc.7946

O'Donovan, M., Lewis, E. and O'Kiely, P. (2011). Requirements of future grass-based ruminant production systems in Ireland. *Irish Journal of Agricultural and Food Research* 50: 1–21.

O'Donovan, M., Dillon, P., Conaghan, P. and Hennessy, D. (2022). Irish grassland research – main achievements and advancements in the past 60 yrs and where to progress to next. *Irish Journal of Agricultural and Food Research* 1–11. https://doi.org/10.15212/ ijafr-2020-0152

O'Mara, F., Richards, K. G., Shalloo, L., Donnellan, T., Finn, J. A. and Lanigan, G. (2021). Sustainability of ruminant livestock production in Ireland. *Animal Frontiers* 11(4): 32–43. https://doi.org/10.1093/af/ vfab037

O'Riordan, E. (2016). Managing your grass. In *Teagasc Beef Manual*. Teagasc, pp. 177–188. Available at: https://www.teagasc.ie/publications/2016/teagascbeef-manual.php (accessed 2 November 2022).

Panagos, P., Van Liedekerke, M., Jones, A. and Montanarella, L. (2012). European Soil Data Centre: response to European policy support and public data requirements. *Land Use Policy* 29(2): 329–338. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2011.07.003

Panagos, P., Van Liedekerke, M., Borrelli, P., Köninger, J., Ballabio, C., Orgiazzi, A., Lugato, E., Liakos, L., Hervas, J., Jones, A. and Montanarella, L. (2022).
European Soil Data Centre 2.0: soil data and knowledge in support of the EU policies. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 73(6): e13315. https://doi. org/10.1111/ejss.13315 Papaioannou, G., Papanikolaou, N. and Retalis, D. (1993). Relationships of photosynthetically active radiation and shortwave irradiance. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology* 48(1): 23–27. https://doi. org/10.1007/bf00864910

Perera, R. S., Cullen, B. R. and Eckard, R. J. (2019). Growth and physiological responses of temperate pasture species to consecutive heat and drought stresses. *Plants* 8(7): 227. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants8070227

Rojas-Downing, M. M., Nejadhashemi, A. P., Harrigan, T. and Woznicki, S. A. (2017). Climate change and livestock: Impacts, adaptation, and mitigation. *Climate Risk Management* 16: 145–163. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.02.001

Ruelle, E., Hennessy, D. and Delaby, L. (2018). Development of the Moorepark St Gilles grass growth model (MoSt GG model): a predictive model for grass growth for pasture based systems. *European Journal* of Agronomy 99: 80–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja. 2018.06.010

Ryan, R. (2002). Winter feed shortage crisis faces farmers. *Irish Examiner*, 3 August 2002. Available at: https://www.irishexaminer.com/news/arid-10030924. html (accessed 15 December 2023).

Soliman, W. S., Fujimori, M., Tase, K. and Sugiyama, S. (2012). Heat tolerance and suppression of oxidative stress: comparative analysis of 25 cultivars of the C₃ grass *Lolium perenne*. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 78: 10–17. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2011.12.013

Stead, D. R. (2014). Irish agriculture and agricultural policy during the hot, dry summer of 1976. *The Agricultural History Review* 62(2): 337–359.

Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.-K., Alexander, L. V., Allen, S. K., Bindoff, N. L., Bréon, F.-M., Church, J. A., Cubasch, U., Emori, S. *et al.* (2013). Technical summary. In Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.-K., Tignor, M., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex V. and Midgley, P. M. (eds), *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 31–115. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/ report/ar5/wg1/ (accessed 25 October 2022).

- Strandberg, G., Bärring, L., Hansson, U., Jansson, C., Jones, C., Kjellström, E., Kolax, M., Kupiainen, M., Nikulin, G., Samuelsson, P. et al. (2014). CORDEX scenarios for Europe from the Rossby Centre Regional Climate Model RCA4. Norrköping: Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. Available at: https://www.smhi.se/en/publications/ cordex-scenarios-for-europe-from-the-rossby-centreregional-climate-model-rca4-1.90274 (accessed 4 September 2023).
- Swindles, G. T., Blundell, A., Roe, H. M. and Hall, V. A. (2010). A 4500-year proxy climate record from peatlands in the north of Ireland: the identification of widespread summer "drought phases"? *Quaternary Science Reviews* 29(13–14): 1577–1589. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2009.01.003
- Taylor, K. E., Stouffer, R. J. and Meehl, G. A. (2012). An overview of CMIP5 and the experiment design. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 93(4): 485–498. https://doi.org/10.1175/bams-d-11-00094.1

Teagasc (n.d.). Grazing management. Available at: https://www.teagasc.ie/crops/grassland/grass10/ grazing-management/ (accessed 9 August 2023).

Trayers, G. (2021). *Start Growing Your 2022 Spring Grass Now!* Teagasc. Available at: https://www. teagasc.ie/publications/2021/start-growing-your-2022spring-grass-now.php (accessed 3 August 2023).

United Nations (2015). *Paris Agreement*. Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_ agreement.pdf (accessed 28 February 2023).

van den Pol-van Dasselaar, A., Hennessy, D. and Isselstein, J. (2020). Grazing of dairy cows in Europe – an in-depth analysis based on the perception of grassland experts. *Sustainability* 12(3): 1098. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031098

van Vuuren, D. P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., Hurtt, G. C., Kram, T., Krey, V., Lamarque, J.-F. *et al.* (2011). The representative concentration pathways: an overview. *Climatic Change* 109(1): 5. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10584-011-0148-z Wang, J. and Forster, J. W. (2017). Flowering time regulation in perennial ryegrass. *Euphytica* 213(5): 106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-017-1896-2

- Whelan, E., Hanley, J. and Gleeson, E. (2017). The MÉRA Data Archive. Dublin: Met Éireann. Available at: https://hdl.handle.net/2262/81711 (accessed 15 November 2022).
- Whelan, E., Gleeson, E. and Hanley, J. (2018). An Evaluation of MÉRA, a high-resolution mesoscale regional reanalysis. *Journal of Applied Meteorology* and Climatology 57(9): 2179–2196. https://doi.org/ 10.1175/jamc-d-17-0354.1

White, H. J., Gaul, W., Sadykova, D., León-Sánchez, L., Caplat, P., Emmerson, M. C. and Yearsley, J. M. (2020). Quantifying large-scale ecosystem stability with remote sensing data. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation* 6(3): 354–365. https://doi. org/10.1002/rse2.148

Wingler, A. (2015). Comparison of signaling interactions determining annual and perennial plant growth in response to low temperature. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 5(794). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00794

Wingler, A. and Hennessy, D. (2016). Limitation of grassland productivity by low temperature and seasonality of growth. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7(1130). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01130

Yang, Z., Miao, Y., Yu, J., Liu, J. and Huang, B. (2014). Differential growth and physiological responses to heat stress between two annual and two perennial coolseason turfgrasses. *Scientia Horticulturae* 170: 75–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2014.02.005

Zhang, Y., Huang, J., Huang, H., Li, X., Jin, Y., Guo, H., Feng, Q. and Zhao, Y. (2022). Grassland aboveground biomass estimation through assimilating remote sensing data into a grass simulation model. *Remote Sensing* 14(13): 3194. https://doi.org/10.3390/ rs14133194

Abbreviations

| CMIP5 | Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 |
|-----------------|--|
| CORINE | Coordination of Information on the Environment |
| ESDAC | European Soil Data Centre |
| EURO-CORDEX | Coordinated Downscaling Experiment – European Domain |
| INRAE | French National Research Institute for Agriculture, Food and the Environment |
| JJA | June–August (summer) |
| LAI | Leaf area index |
| LU | Livestock unit |
| MAM | March–May (spring) |
| MÉRA | Met Éireann Reanalysis |
| NNI | Nitrogen nutritional index |
| PBI | PastureBase Ireland |
| RCM | Regional climate model |
| RCP | Representative Concentration Pathway |
| RMSE | Root mean square error |
| SEA | Seasonal effect |
| SON | September–November (autumn) |
| ST, | Sum of temperature threshold at the beginning of the reproductive period |
| ST ₂ | Sum of temperature threshold at the end of the reproductive period |
| WHC | Water-holding capacity |

An Ghníomhaireacht Um Chaomhnú Comhshaoil

Tá an GCC freagrach as an gcomhshaol a chosaint agus a fheabhsú, mar shócmhainn luachmhar do mhuintir na hÉireann. Táimid tiomanta do dhaoine agus don chomhshaol a chosaint ar thionchar díobhálach na radaíochta agus an truaillithe.

Is féidir obair na Gníomhaireachta a roinnt ina trí phríomhréimse:

Rialáil: Rialáil agus córais chomhlíonta comhshaoil éifeachtacha a chur i bhfeidhm, chun dea-thorthaí comhshaoil a bhaint amach agus díriú orthu siúd nach mbíonn ag cloí leo.

Eolas: Sonraí, eolas agus measúnú ardchaighdeáin, spriocdhírithe agus tráthúil a chur ar fáil i leith an chomhshaoil chun bonn eolais a chur faoin gcinnteoireacht.

Abhcóideacht: Ag obair le daoine eile ar son timpeallachta glaine, táirgiúla agus dea-chosanta agus ar son cleachtas inbhuanaithe i dtaobh an chomhshaoil.

I measc ár gcuid freagrachtaí tá:

Ceadúnú

- > Gníomhaíochtaí tionscail, dramhaíola agus stórála peitril ar scála mór;
- Sceitheadh fuíolluisce uirbigh;
- Úsáid shrianta agus scaoileadh rialaithe Orgánach Géinmhodhnaithe;
- Foinsí radaíochta ianúcháin;
- Astaíochtaí gás ceaptha teasa ó thionscal agus ón eitlíocht trí Scéim an AE um Thrádáil Astaíochtaí.

Forfheidhmiú Náisiúnta i leith Cúrsaí Comhshaoil

- > Iniúchadh agus cigireacht ar shaoráidí a bhfuil ceadúnas acu ón GCC;
- Cur i bhfeidhm an dea-chleachtais a stiúradh i ngníomhaíochtaí agus i saoráidí rialáilte;
- Maoirseacht a dhéanamh ar fhreagrachtaí an údaráis áitiúil as cosaint an chomhshaoil;
- > Caighdeán an uisce óil phoiblí a rialáil agus údaruithe um sceitheadh fuíolluisce uirbigh a fhorfheidhmiú
- Caighdeán an uisce óil phoiblí agus phríobháidigh a mheasúnú agus tuairisciú air;
- Comhordú a dhéanamh ar líonra d'eagraíochtaí seirbhíse poiblí chun tacú le gníomhú i gcoinne coireachta comhshaoil;
- > An dlí a chur orthu siúd a bhriseann dlí an chomhshaoil agus a dhéanann dochar don chomhshaol.

Bainistíocht Dramhaíola agus Ceimiceáin sa Chomhshaol

- > Rialacháin dramhaíola a chur i bhfeidhm agus a fhorfheidhmiú lena n-áirítear saincheisteanna forfheidhmithe náisiúnta;
- Staitisticí dramhaíola náisiúnta a ullmhú agus a fhoilsiú chomh maith leis an bPlean Náisiúnta um Bainistíocht Dramhaíola Guaisí;
- An Clár Náisiúnta um Chosc Dramhaíola a fhorbairt agus a chur i bhfeidhm;
- Reachtaíocht ar rialú ceimiceán sa timpeallacht a chur i bhfeidhm agus tuairisciú ar an reachtaíocht sin.

Bainistíocht Uisce

- Plé le struchtúir náisiúnta agus réigiúnacha rialachais agus oibriúcháin chun an Chreat-treoir Uisce a chur i bhfeidhm;
- > Monatóireacht, measúnú agus tuairisciú a dhéanamh ar chaighdeán aibhneacha, lochanna, uiscí idirchreasa agus cósta, uiscí snámha agus screamhuisce chomh maith le tomhas ar leibhéil uisce agus sreabhadh abhann.

Eolaíocht Aeráide & Athrú Aeráide

- Fardail agus réamh-mheastacháin a fhoilsiú um astaíochtaí gás ceaptha teasa na hÉireann;
- Rúnaíocht a chur ar fáil don Chomhairle Chomhairleach ar Athrú Aeráide agus tacaíocht a thabhairt don Idirphlé Náisiúnta ar Ghníomhú ar son na hAeráide;

 Tacú le gníomhaíochtaí forbartha Náisiúnta, AE agus NA um Eolaíocht agus Beartas Aeráide.

Monatóireacht & Measúnú ar an gComhshaol

- Córais náisiúnta um monatóireacht an chomhshaoil a cheapadh agus a chur i bhfeidhm: teicneolaíocht, bainistíocht sonraí, anailís agus réamhaisnéisiú;
- Tuairiscí ar Staid Thimpeallacht na hÉireann agus ar Tháscairí a chur ar fáil;
- Monatóireacht a dhéanamh ar chaighdeán an aeir agus Treoir an AE i leith Aeir Ghlain don Eoraip a chur i bhfeidhm chomh maith leis an gCoinbhinsiún ar Aerthruailliú Fadraoin Trasteorann, agus an Treoir i leith na Teorann Náisiúnta Astaíochtaí;
- Maoirseacht a dhéanamh ar chur i bhfeidhm na Treorach i leith Torainn Timpeallachta;
- Measúnú a dhéanamh ar thionchar pleananna agus clár beartaithe ar chomhshaol na hÉireann.

Taighde agus Forbairt Comhshaoil

- Comhordú a dhéanamh ar ghníomhaíochtaí taighde comhshaoil agus iad a mhaoiniú chun brú a aithint, bonn eolais a chur faoin mbeartas agus réitigh a chur ar fáil;
- Comhoibriú le gníomhaíocht náisiúnta agus AE um thaighde comhshaoil.

Cosaint Raideolaíoch

- Monatóireacht a dhéanamh ar leibhéil radaíochta agus nochtadh an phobail do radaíocht ianúcháin agus do réimsí leictreamaighnéadacha a mheas;
- Cabhrú le pleananna náisiúnta a fhorbairt le haghaidh éigeandálaí ag eascairt as taismí núicléacha;
- > Monatóireacht a dhéanamh ar fhorbairtí thar lear a bhaineann le saoráidí núicléacha agus leis an tsábháilteacht raideolaíochta;
- Sainseirbhísí um chosaint ar an radaíocht a sholáthar, nó maoirsiú a dhéanamh ar sholáthar na seirbhísí sin.

Treoir, Ardú Feasachta agus Faisnéis Inrochtana

- > Tuairisciú, comhairle agus treoir neamhspleách, fianaisebhunaithe a chur ar fáil don Rialtas, don tionscal agus don phobal ar ábhair maidir le cosaint comhshaoil agus raideolaíoch;
- > An nasc idir sláinte agus folláine, an geilleagar agus timpeallacht ghlan a chur chun cinn;
- Feasacht comhshaoil a chur chun cinn lena n-áirítear tacú le hiompraíocht um éifeachtúlacht acmhainní agus aistriú aeráide;
- > Tástáil radóin a chur chun cinn i dtithe agus in ionaid oibre agus feabhsúchán a mholadh áit is gá.

Comhpháirtíocht agus Líonrú

> Oibriú le gníomhaireachtaí idirnáisiúnta agus náisiúnta, údaráis réigiúnacha agus áitiúla, eagraíochtaí neamhrialtais, comhlachtaí ionadaíocha agus ranna rialtais chun cosaint chomhshaoil agus raideolaíoch a chur ar fáil, chomh maith le taighde, comhordú agus cinnteoireacht bunaithe ar an eolaíocht.

Bainistíocht agus struchtúr na Gníomhaireachta um Chaomhnú Comhshaoil

Tá an GCC á bainistiú ag Bord lánaimseartha, ar a bhfuil Ard-Stiúrthóir agus cúigear Stiúrthóir. Déantar an obair ar fud cúig cinn d'Oifigí:

- 1. An Oifig um Inbhunaitheacht i leith Cúrsaí Comhshaoil
- 2. An Oifig Forfheidhmithe i leith Cúrsaí Comhshaoil
- 3. An Oifig um Fhianaise agus Measúnú
- 4. An Oifig um Chosaint ar Radaíocht agus Monatóireacht Comhshaoil
- 5. An Oifig Cumarsáide agus Seirbhísí Corparáideacha

Tugann coistí comhairleacha cabhair don Ghníomhaireacht agus tagann siad le chéile go rialta le plé a dhéanamh ar ábhair imní agus le comhairle a chur ar an mBord.



EPA Research

Webpages: www.epa.ie/our-services/research/ LinkedIn: www.linkedin.com/showcase/eparesearch/ Twitter: @EPAResearchNews Email: research@epa.ie

www.epa.ie